Screening Assessment

Ethene (Ethylene)

Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN)
74-85-1

Environment and Climate Change Canada Health Canada

May 2016



Cat. No.: En14-237/2015E-EPUB ISBN 978-0-660-03472-0

Information contained in this publication or product may be reproduced, in part or in whole, and by any means, for personal or public non-commercial purposes, without charge or further permission, unless otherwise specified.

You are asked to:

- Exercise due diligence in ensuring the accuracy of the materials reproduced;
- Indicate both the complete title of the materials reproduced, as well as the author organization; and
- Indicate that the reproduction is a copy of an official work that is published by the Government of Canada and that the reproduction has not been produced in affiliation with or with the endorsement of the Government of Canada.

Commercial reproduction and distribution is prohibited except with written permission from the author. For more information, please contact Environment and Climate Change Canada's Inquiry Centre at 1-800-668-6767 (in Canada only) or 819-997-2800 or email to enviroinfo@ec.gc.ca.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of the Environment and Climate Change, 2016.

Aussi disponible en français

Synopsis

Pursuant to sections 68 of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (CEPA1999), the Ministers of the Environment and Climate Change and of Health have conducted a screening assessment of ethene (commonly referred to as "ethylene"), Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN) 74-85-1.

Ethene is a simple double-bonded hydrocarbon, and is a ubiquitous gas in the environment. It is introduced to the environment from both natural and anthropogenic sources, including emissions from vegetation of all types and microorganisms, as a product of incomplete combustion of organic material (such as wood and agricultural wastes) and of fossil fuels, and during its industrial production and use. Ethene is also produced endogenously by humans and mammals.

Ethene has been internationally identified as a high production volume (HPV) chemical. Worldwide, ethene is the petrochemical product manufactured in the largest quantity, with global production capacity in 2011 estimated to be 138 million tonnes per year. In 2011, Canada ranked sixth in worldwide ethene production capacity at nearly 5.5 million tonnes per year, representing 4.0 % of worldwide capacity. In 2000, ethene production in Canada was slightly lower, with a production of 4.3 million tonnes per year, based on results from a survey conducted under section 71 of CEPA. In this same survey, imported quantities of ethene were comparatively negligible.

In Canada and worldwide, ethene is predominantly used as a monomer for the manufacture of polyethylene plastics, as an intermediate for other organic chemicals, and as fuel gas in industrial facilities. Relatively small amounts are also used in commercial settings worldwide for the controlled growth or ripening of vegetation such as fruits, vegetables and flowers; in Canada, ethene is used for the postharvest ripening of bananas and other tropical fruits, and degreening of citrus.

In Canada, anthropogenic ethene concentrations in air are mostly attributed to the combustion of fossil fuels and to the use of ethene in various industrial processes. Canadian automotive releases to air were estimated at 3449 tonnes in 2005. The majority of this was estimated to be released from cars older than 1992. Vehicles newer than 1992 emit considerably less ethene due to advances in automotive engine technology and emissions controls and requirements for cleaner burning fuels in the United States (US) and Canada.

Ethene is included in the National Pollutant Release Inventory (NPRI), to which facilities manufacturing, processing, or otherwise using more than 10 tonnes per year of the substance must report their releases. In 2009, facilities across Canada reported to the NPRI on-site environmental releases totaling approximately 1320 tonnes. Industrial releases have dropped by over 50 % since 2000, due largely to the amount of ethene being recycled. The majority of reported ethene releases are to air.

Ethene has been measured in outdoor, indoor and personal air (i.e., air near a person's breathing zone collected using mobile air sampling equipment carried by participants) in

Canada, as well as in vegetation, soil and surface seawater. As a combustion by-product, ethene has been measured in vehicular exhaust and in cigarette smoke. Ethene has not been reported in drinking water or consumer products in Canada.

Based on experimental and modelled data, ethene is neither persistent nor bioaccumulative in the environment.

Terrestrial plants are highly sensitive to ethene in air; critical toxicity values in air were determined for long-term and short-term exposures.

Air monitoring data were used to determine if ambient concentrations of ethene in urban and rural air or near industrial sites could be harmful to terrestrial plants. Based on comparison of levels expected to cause harm to organisms with estimated exposure levels and other information, ethene has a low risk of harm to terrestrial plants due to industrial emissions or ambient concentrations. The estimated frequency of occurrences of sufficient concentration from industrial emissions to be of concern is one occurrence per year.

Based on the information presented in this screening assessment, there is low risk of harm to organisms or the broader integrity of the environment from this substance. It is therefore concluded that ethene does not meet criteria under paragraphs 64(a) or (b) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have immediate or long-term harmful effects on the environment or its biological diversity or that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

Based principally on weight of evidence-based assessments of international agencies, ethene was "not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans (Group 3)" and the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has concluded that relevant studies on ethene have indicated low toxicity.

The animal database for ethene, as well as the available epidemiology studies, did not demonstrate a cancer concern, and the overall genotoxicity test results were negative. The critical human health effect associated with exposure to ethene is nasal effects based on observations in experimental animals. This critical effect level was compared to the highest concentration of ethene measured in air in Canada and resulted in wide margins of exposure which were considered adequate to address uncertainties in the health effects and exposure databases. On the basis of the adequacy of the margins between upper-bounding estimates of exposure to ethene and critical effect levels, it is concluded that ethene does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64 (c) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

Conclusion

We conclude that ethylene (CAS RN 74-85-1) does not meet any of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA.

Table of Contents

Synopsis	2
Introduction	6
Substance Identity	8
Physical and Chemical Properties	8
Sources	10
Uses	11
Releases to the Environment	
Environmental Fate	13
Persistence and Bioaccumulation Potential	14
Potential to Cause Ecological Harm	17
Ecological Exposure Assessment	
Ecological Effects Assessment	19
Ecological Risk Characterization	24
Uncertainties in the Evaluation of Ecological Risk	30
Potential to Cause Harm to Human Health	
Exposure Assessment	32
Health Effects Assessment	
Characterization of Risk to Human Health	47
Uncertainties	48
Conclusion	48
	50
Appendix A. Summary of health effects information for ethene	63

Introduction

Pursuant to sections 68 of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (CEPA) (Canada 1999), the Minister of the Environment and Climate Change and the Minister of Health conduct screening assessments of substances to determine whether these substances present or may present a risk to the environment or to human health.

A screening assessment was undertaken on ethene (more commonly referred to as ethylene; Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number 74-85-1), as it was identified as a priority for assessment on the basis of its greatest potential for human exposure prior to the completion of the Domestic Substances List (DSL) categorization. However, during the categorization of the DSL, ethene was not found to meet any of the categorization criteria. This screening assessment was therefore conducted pursuant to paragraphs 68(b) and (c) of CEPA.

Screening assessments focus on information critical to determining whether a substance meets the criteria as set out in section 64 of CEPA. Screening assessments examine scientific information and develop conclusions by incorporating a weight-of-evidence approach and precaution.¹

This screening assessment includes consideration of information on chemical properties, hazards, uses, and exposure to ethene. Data relevant to the screening assessment of this substance were identified in original literature, review and assessment documents, and stakeholder research reports and from recent literature searches, up to May 2015 for ecological sections of the document and December 2011 for human health sections of the document. In addition, an industry survey was conducted in 2000 through a *Canada Gazette Notice* issued under the authority of section 71 of CEPA (Canada 2001). Key studies considered in this assessment were critically evaluated; modelling results may have been used to reach conclusions. The screening assessment does not present an exhaustive review of all available data. Instead, it presents the critical studies and lines of evidence supporting the conclusions.

Evaluation of risk to human health involves consideration of data relevant to estimation of exposure of the general population, as well as information on health hazards. Decisions for human health are based on the nature of the critical effect and/or margins between conservative effect levels and estimates of exposure, taking into account confidence in the completeness of the identified databases on both exposure and effects, within a screening context. The screening assessment does not represent an exhaustive or critical review of all

Materials Information System (WHMIS) for products intended for workplace use. Similarly, a conclusion based on the criteria contained in section 64 of CEPA does not preclude actions being taken under other sections of CEPA or other Acts.

¹ A determination of whether one or more of the criteria of section 64 are met is based upon an assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or to human health associated with exposures in the general environment. For humans, this includes, but is not limited to, exposures from ambient and indoor air, drinking water, foodstuffs, and the use of consumer products. A conclusion under CEPA is not relevant to, nor does it preclude, an assessment against the hazard criteria specified in the *Controlled Products Regulations*, which is part of the regulatory framework for the Workplace Hazardous

available data. Rather, it presents a summary of the critical information upon which the conclusion is based.

The approach taken in the ecological screening assessment is to examine various supporting information and develop conclusions based on a weight-of-evidence approach as required under section 76.1 of CEPA. The screening assessment does not present an exhaustive review of all available data. Instead, it presents the critical studies and lines of evidence supporting the conclusions.

This screening assessment was prepared by staff in the Existing Substances programs at Health Canada and Environment and Climate Change Canada. This assessment has undergone external written peer review/consultation. Comments on the technical portions relevant to ecological exposure were received from scientific and industry experts, including Kent Woodburn and Gary Klecka (DOW Chemicals Inc.), Laura Blair (Government of Alberta), Tom Parkerton (ExxonMobile), and Grazyna Kalabis (Ontario Ministry of the Environment). Comments on the technical portions relevant to human health were received from scientific experts selected and directed by Gradient (an environmental and risk science consulting firm), including Cathy Petito Boyce, Leslie Beyer and Chris Long. Additionally, the draft of this screening assessment was subject to a 60-day public comment period. While external comments were taken into consideration, the final content and outcome of the screening assessment remain the responsibility of Health Canada and Environment and Climate Change Canada.

The critical information and considerations upon which the assessment is based are summarized in the following sections.

Substance Identity

For the purposes of this document, the substance will be referred to as ethene —although commonly known as ethylene—as it is in accordance with the most recent IUPAC (International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry) recommendations for this substance (IUPAC 1993). Information relevant to the identity of ethene is presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Substance identity for ethene

Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN)	74-85-1
DSL name	Ethene
National Chemical Inventories (NCI) names ^a	Ethene (TSCA, AICS, ECL, SWISS, PICCS, ASIA-PAC, NZIoC) Ethylene (EINECS, ENCS, PICCS)
Other names	Ethylene, acetene, bicarburetted hydrogen, olefiant gas, and elayl
Chemical group (DSL Stream)	Discrete organics
Major chemical class or use	Organic
Chemical formula	C_2H_4
Chemical structure	H H
SMILES ^b	C=C
Molecular mass	28.05 g/mol

National Chemical Inventories (NCI). 2007: AICS (Australian Inventory of Chemical Substances); ASIA-PAC (Asia-Pacific Substances Lists); ECL (Korean Existing Chemicals List); EINECS (European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances); ENCS (Japanese Existing and New Chemical Substances); NZIoC (New Zealand Inventory of Chemicals); PICCS (Philippine Inventory of Chemicals and Chemical Substances); SWISS (Giftliste 1 and Inventory of Notified New Substances); and TSCA (Toxic Substances Control Act Chemical Substance Inventory).

Physical and Chemical Properties

Ethene generally is present as a gas under normal environmental conditions as indicated by its vapour pressure, and partitions preferentially to the atmosphere from water bodies and soil surfaces (Mackay et al. 2003). Table 2 presents a range of physical-chemical properties identified for ethene that are relevant to its environmental fate.

^b Simplified Molecular Input Line Entry System.

Table 2. Physical and chemical properties of ethene

Property	Туре	Value	Temperature (°C)	Reference
Melting Point (°C)	Experimental	-169.4	_	O'Neil et al. 2001
Boiling Point (°C)	Experimental	-102.4 to -103.7	_	O'Neil et al. 2001
Conversion Factor ^a	Calculated	1 mg/m ³ = 0.87 ppm 1 ppm = 1.15 mg/m ³	25	IARC 1994
Vapour Pressure (MPa)	Experimental	4.27	0	OECD 1998
Vapour Pressure (MPa)	Extrapolated	6.95	25	Daubert and Danner 1985
Relative Vapour Density (air =1)	-	0.9686	_	IARC 1994
Vapour Density (kg/m³)	-	1.261	0	CGAI 1999
Specific Gravity	-	0.978	0	CGAI 1999
Solubility in Water (mg/l)	Experimental	280	0	IUCLID 1995
Solubility in Water (mg/l)	Experimental	131	25	McAuliffe 1966
Henry's Law Constant (Pa·m³/mol)	Calculated from vapour pressure	2.17x10 ⁴	25	SRC 2005
Octanol–water partition coefficient log K _{ow} (dimensionless; 3-solubility harmonized log K _{ow})	Extrapolated	1.85	_	Schenker et al. 2005
Reaction rate constants in air (cm³/molecule/s)	Calculated — OH•	7.9 x 10 ⁻¹²	25 (at 100 kPa)	Atkinson et al. 2006
Reaction rate constants in air (cm³/molecule/s)	Calculated — NO ₃	2.1 x 10 ⁻¹⁶	25 (at 100 kPa)	Atkinson et al. 2006
Reaction rate constants in air (cm³/molecule/s)	Calculated — O ₃	1.6 x 10 ⁻¹⁸	25 (at 100 kPa)	Atkinson et al. 2006

^a Conversion factor represents the value in parts per million (ppm) converted to mg/m³ and vice versa

Sources

Ethene is a ubiquitous gas in the environment. Approximately 74 % of global emissions are from natural sources and 26 % from anthropogenic sources. Most of the ethene produced naturally is released by plants and soil microorganisms in terrestrial ecosystems (Sawada and Totsuka 1986). Ethene is produced endogenously by fruits, flowers, leaves, roots and tubers as an important plant hormone which regulates various growing processes (Altshuller 1983), and is released during decomposition of litter in forest topsoil (Sawada and Totsuka 1986; Derendorp et al. 2011). Endogenous production of ethene also occurs in humans and other mammals (IARC 1994); ethene has been measured in exhaled breath (Filser et al. 1992) as well as in gas emanating from human skin (Nose et al. 2005). The burning of wood (Barrefors and Petersson 1995) during forest fires also constitutes a natural source of ethene emissions to the atmosphere. Other natural sources include volcanic emissions and natural gas leakage, but these sources are considered negligible (Sawada and Totsuka 1986).

It is estimated that 77 % of anthropogenic releases on a global scale are derived from biomass burning in terrestrial ecosystems to clear land for agriculture, focused primarily in tropical forests (Sawada and Totsuka 1986). The incomplete combustion of various fossil fuels accounts for 21 % of global anthropogenic releases (Sawada and Totsuka, 1986). Vehicle exhaust emissions were known to make an important contribution to urban air concentration of ethene (IARC 1994) although advances in automotive engine technology and fuels have greatly reduced these emissions. Other anthropogenic sources include incineration of refuse, burning of agricultural wastes (Sawada and Totsuka 1986) and industrial processes such as flaring at refineries and leakage from piping (IARC 1994).

Ethene has been internationally identified as a high production volume (HPV) chemical (US EPA 2009c; OECD 1998). According to IARC (1991), ethene is the petrochemical chemical manufactured in the largest volume worldwide (IARC 1994), although it is unclear whether this reflects more recent trends. As of January 1, 2011, the worldwide production capacity of ethene reached more than 138 million tonnes per year (tpy), which is up from roughly 119 million tpy in 2007 (True 2011). Canada possesses the 6th largest ethene production capacity at nearly 5.5 million tpy, which represents 4.0 % of worldwide capacity as of January 1, 2011 (True 2011). This reflects slight growth in Canada relative to the year 2000 when production was 4.3 million tpy as reported by Canadian manufacturers (Environment Canada 2003a) in a survey conducted under Section 71 of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (Canada 2001). In this same survey, imported quantities of ethene were comparatively negligible; only 15 tonnes were imported by one company. Several changes in the Canadian manufacturing landscape for ethene have been reported in recent years. In 2008, a major Canadian petrochemicals producer closed its plants in Québec (Baumgarten 2008), while in March 2011, plans for the expansion of ethene production in the province of Alberta from the off-gas of the oil sands was announced (True 2011).

More than 95% of the annual commercial production of ethene is currently based on steam cracking of hydrocarbons, and by recovery from refinery cracked gas (Zimmerman and Walzl 2009). Ethene production and transfer to downstream uses occur in closed systems. Fugitive emissions of ethene from process equipment and piping in manufacturing plants do occur

although it is estimated that these losses account for a small percentage of production (ca. 0.03 %) (IARC 1994).

Ethene has been detected as a thermal degradation product of polyethylene and polypropylene in two laboratory studies (Hoff et al. 1982; Frostling et al. 1984), although this source has been considered to be negligible.

Uses

The worldwide increase in ethene production is largely a reflection of increased demand of downstream uses. Ethene is a major raw material in the synthetic organic chemicals industry (CGAI 1999). Ethene's largest use is in plastics, mostly for the production of high, low and linear low density polyethylene, a polymer consisting of ethene monomers (Zimmermann and Walzl 2009). The estimated growth in global demand for ethene accounts for the expected increase in plastic consumption per capita in growth markets such as India and China (ACML 2010). Ethene is also used for the manufacture of ethylene oxide, ethylene dichloride, ethylbenzene, alcohols, olefins, acetaldehyde and vinylacetate (Zimmermann and Walzl 2009), and for industrial fuel gas (Environment Canada 2003a). Small quantities of ethene are used as a refrigerant and as fuel for welding and cutting metals (CGAI 1999), and was used as an anaesthetic gas (Sneader 2005). Based on available information, uses in Canada are consistent with international use patterns.

Synthetic ethene is also used commercially to ripen fruit (CGAI 1999), although this use accounts for a small proportion of ethene production volumes (IARC 1994). As a plant growth regulator, ethene acts to stimulate or regulate the ripening of fruit, the inhibition of vegetative tissues, the opening of flowers, and the abscission (or shedding) of leaves. In Canada, ethene is used for postharvest ripening of bananas and other tropical fruits, and degreening of citrus (Lunau 2010; CGSB 2011). In the US, synthetic ethene can be applied in the field or after harvest for different crops, as a curing agent in tobacco, as a flower-producing agent in pineapples, and as a witchweed herbicide for corn, cotton, peanut and soybean crops (US EPA 1992a).

Ethene is not listed as an approved food additive in Canada under The Lists of Permitted Food Additives as incorporated by reference in Marketing Authorizations for Food Additives, issued under the authority of the *Food and Drugs Act* (email from Health Canada Food Directorate to Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau (ESRAB), unreferenced). Ethene is also not listed in the Drug Product Database (DPD 2012), the Therapeutic Products Directorate's internal Non-Medicinal Ingredient Database, the Natural Health Products Ingredients Database (NHPID 2012) or the Licensed Natural Health Products Database (LNHPD 2012) as a medicinal or a non-medicinal ingredient present in final pharmaceutical products, natural health products or veterinary drugs (October 2011 email from Therapeutic Products Directorate, Natural Health Products Directorate and Veterinary Drugs Directorate, Health Canada, to Risk Management Bureau, Health Canada; unreferenced).

Releases to the Environment

As has been stated previously, ethene is ubiquitous in the environment as it is naturally produced by plants, microbes and marine algae. In the soil, it is a by-product of microbial decomposition of organic material. Thus ethene is released to the environment through natural processes.

Anthropogenic ethene concentrations in Canadian air are largely attributed to vehicular emissions (Alberta Environment 2003); however, this source has decreased over the last 20 years due to advances in automotive engine technology. Ethene was one of the chemicals measured in vehicle emissions in 2003 by the AirCare program, a vehicle emissions testing and reduction program in the Lower Fraser Valley of British Columbia (Environment Canada 2003b). The vehicles tested ranged in model years from 1978 to 1998. Of these, 50 were light-duty passenger cars and 20 were light-duty trucks. The vehicles selected for testing were chosen to represent the top 70 % of the on-road vehicle fleet in British Columbia. The quantity of ethene emitted per km driven varied greatly. Vehicles older than 1992 often emitted considerably more ethene (96 mg/km driven) than did vehicles newer than 1992 (4.6 mg/km driven). This 20-fold reduction was largely the result of emissions controls and requirements for cleaner burning fuels in the United States and Canada (Environment Canada 2003b).

These data can be used to estimate tonnes of ethene potentially released in Canada, assuming that the vehicle distribution for Canada is similar to that of the Lower Fraser Valley. This estimate will likely be high, as the older vehicles (from 1991-1996) had ethene emissions that were high compared to more modern vehicles. Canadians in light-duty vehicles (under 4.5 tonnes) in 2005 drove an estimated 287.7 billion km in 17.9–18.2 million vehicles (Statistics Canada 2005; NRCan 2008). This calculation resulted in a total estimated release of ethene for Canada from light-duty vehicles at 3449 tonnes in 2005. The majority of this, 2396 tonnes (69% of the total), was from cars older than 1992 although they represented only 14% of the fleet (NRCan 2008). As the Canadian vehicle fleet ages the proportion of vehicles older than 1992 will drop resulting in substantial decreases in the amount of ethene released by Canadian vehicles.

Ethene is included in the National Pollutant Release Inventory (NPRI), to which facilities manufacturing, processing, or otherwise using more than 10 tonnes per year of the substance must report their releases. For the purpose of this assessment, the original site types were recategorized for clarity. Based on this information, the NPRI lists 1 facilities that reported releasing 1322 tonnes and recycling 723 tonnes (in Alberta) of ethene in 2009 (Environment Canada 2015; Table 3). Alberta had the highest industrial releases in Canada with 900 tonnes released (represents 68% of the total amount reported). Releases in Alberta were followed by Ontario with 357 tonnes (27% of total amount), while the remaining 65 tonnes (5% of total amount) were released in Quebec, Saskatchewan, Nova Scotia, British Columbia and Nunavut (Environment Canada 2015). Ethene is also a component of some Petroleum and Refinery Gases (PRGs) (Canada 2013a; Canada 2013b) and may be emitted to the environment along with the release of PRGs and is expected to be included in the Oil Production sector (5%) (Table 3; Environment Canada 2015). Releases of ethene in this report are considered from industrial operations generally, rather than from specific industries, unless otherwise noted.

The trend in actual releases (not counting tonnes sent for recycling or spillage) of ethene reported to the NPRI has been decreasing significantly so that releases to the environment in 2009 are less than half of that reported for 2000 (see Table 4) (Environment Canada 2015).

All releases in this report are expected to be to air since none have been identified to soil, water or sediment.

Table 3. NPRI reported releases of ethene based on industrial sector in 2009

(Environment Canada 2015)

Industrial Sector	Number of Facilities Reporting Releases	Release Mass (tonnes)	Percentage of Total (based on release mass)
Chemicals	20	1084	49
Oil Production (all types)	16	163	39
Power Production	2	46	5
Metals	3	29	7
TOTAL	41	1322	100%

Table 4. Ethene releases and recycled quantities (in tonnes) reported to NPRI between 2000 and 2009 (Environment Canada 2015).

Year	Releases	Recycled	Total
2000	2710.56	0.44	2711
2001	2472	0	2472
2002	2057	781	2838
2003	1921	422	2343
2004	1881	676	2557
2005	1840	1287	3127
2006	1463	1068	2531
2007	1427	894	2321
2008	1250	701	1951
2009	1320	723	2043

Environmental Fate

Ethene from anthropogenic sources is almost always released to air as it is a gas at environmental temperatures. Level III fugacity modelling (EQC Model; Mackay et al. 2003) estimates that almost all (>99.9%) ethene released to air will remain in air and that only negligible amounts will partition to soil, water and sediment. Ethene is not expected to be released to soil, sediment or water thus no exposure is expected and these routes were not

investigated. Thus, the most probable route of ethene exposure is through contact with air (e.g., by inhalation or respiration) and the organisms most likely to be exposed are terrestrial organisms such as plants, invertebrates, birds and mammals.

Ethene is considered to have a Photochemical Ozone Creation Potential (POCP) of 100 and is the standard chemical for comparison with other chemicals (Environment Canada 1996).

A common degradation product of ethene in air is formaldehyde, a substance already listed on Schedule 1 of CEPA (the *List of Toxic Substances*).

Physical removal of ethene from the atmosphere can occur through wet deposition; however, this process is negligible due to ethene's short half-life in the atmosphere and moderate water solubility. Certain evidence suggests that some ethene removal is facilitated by soil bacteria and fungi; however, as with wet deposition this process is not as efficient as the atmospheric chemical reactions which are 30 to 60 times more effective (Alberta Environment 2003).

Persistence and Bioaccumulation Potential

Experimental and modelled data concerning the biodegradation and persistence of ethene in different environmental media are presented in Table 6. Modelled biodegradation values for ethene indicate that the half-life is < 182 days in water and soil. Howard et al. (1991) provide an estimation of the aerobic half-life of 1-28 days, and an anaerobic half-life of 4-112 days. Ethene is readily oxidized in the atmosphere with a theoretical global residence time in the troposphere ranging from 2 to 4 days. There are, however, numerous chemical reactions associated with the breakdown of ethene which may decrease its half-life to just a few hours (Sawada and Totsuka 1986).

Ethene reacts in air primarily with hydroxyl radicals (OH•) but it can also react with nitrate ions (NO₃) and ozone (O₃). The oxidation of ethene can generate nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) which can later form ozone. In a report for the California Air Resources Board, Carter (2010) developed a complex model based on years of air chamber tests to determine the impacts of chemicals on O₃ and NO₃ formation. In their report are relative reactivities based on effects of chemicals on the maximum 8-hour average ozone concentration in 39 cities across the continental USA. Under these test conditions Carter calculated that ethene generated an average of 9 grams O₃ for each gram added to the atmosphere (Carter 2010). With an estimated release of 3449 tonnes of ethene from automobiles, this source would generate approximately 31 041 tonnes of O₃ across Canada (at 25 °C and 101.3 kPa).

Ethene is used as the criterion against which other chemicals are measured for tropospheric ozone formation. The rate constant for ethene reacting with OH• is $7.9 \times 10^{-12} \, \text{cm}^3$ molecule $^1\text{s}^{-1}$ (at 298 K and 101 kPa); with NO₃ and O₃ the rate for ethene reacting are much slower (Atkinson et al. 2006). Calculations of a half-life in air are highly dependent on the concentration of OH• used. Atkinson (2000) found the peak day-time OH• concentration

close to ground level at two mid-latitude, northern hemisphere sites during August and September ranged from 2×10^6 to 10×10^6 molecule/cm³. Prinn et al. (1995) calculated a diurnally, seasonally and annually-averaged 24-h OH• concentration of 1×10^6 molecule/cm³. It appears that the value 2×10^6 molecule/cm³ would be in the range of what should be expected in Canada.

An atmospheric half-life ($t_{1/2}$) was calculated for ethene based on the OH• rate constant, a 12-h day and default OH• concentration listed above and based on the equation presented in Leifer (1993). This gives an atmospheric half-life of 1.01 days.

Other estimates of the oxidative half-life in air were 1.255 days (using AOPWIN 2000) and 1.125 days (Alberta Environment 2003 using data from Prinn et al. 1992). Alberta Environment (2003) estimated that in more polluted urban areas where OH• concentrations can reach 10⁷ molecules cm⁻³ (Eisele and Tanner 1991) the half-life is only about 2 hours.

Ethene has an expected reactive half-life in air of 1.01 days, and an estimated half-life in water of 1-28 days (Table 5). Using an extrapolation ratio of 1:1:4 for water:soil:sediment biodegradation half-lives (Boethling et al. 1995), the half-lives in soil and sediment can be extrapolated from the half-life estimations in water. Therefore, the half-life in soil is 1-28 days and in sediment is 4-112 days.

-			4 1 11
I ania a Hait-iivae	Ot Othor	IA IB ABUIRA	imantal madia
Table 5. Half-lives	OI CHICL	IC III CIIVII OI	IIIICIIIAI IIICUIA
	.		

Medium	Half Life (days)	Reference
Water	1-28	Howard et al.
		1991; OECD 2005
Air	1.01	Atkinson 2000;
		AOPWIN 2000
Soil	1-28	Howard et al. 1991
Sediment	4-112 ^a	n/a

^a As calculated using the 1:1:4 extrapolation ratio for degradation in water : soil : sediment from Boethling et al. 1995

The long-range transport potential of ethene in air was estimated using the TaPL3 model v3.00 (CEMC 2003). The characteristic travel distance (CTD) of the substance calculated by the model is 681 km. According to Beyer et al. (2000), ethene belongs to class 3 (short CTD < 700 km) and is considered to have a low potential for long-range transport in air.

There are no empirical data characterizing BCFs or BAFs for ethene; however, it is expected that bioaccumulation and bioconcentration of ethene in aquatic systems is limited due to its low log K_{ow} of 1.85 (Schenker et al. 2005). Since no experimental bioaccumulation or bioconcentration data for ethene were available, a predictive approach was applied using a model to calculate the BCF and BAF (BCFBAF 2008). The BAF model is usually preferred, as it represents uptake of chemicals from water and the diet however, no diet contribution is expected thus BAF was not considered. The result of the BCF model calculation was BCF = 1.774 L/kg wet-wt, which indicates a very low bioconcentration potential.

Based on the above information ethene is neither persistent nor bioaccumulative in the environment.

Potential to Cause Ecological Harm

Ecological Exposure Assessment

Experimental data on the distribution of ethene in environmental compartments is scarce so the EQC Level III fugacity model (Table 5; Mackay et al. 2003) was used. The only pathway of release known in Canada is through releases to air and in conjunction with the degradation information presented in Table 6, ethene is unlikely to be found in water, sediment or soil at concentrations greater than what is naturally present in the environment. Consequently, only air concentrations are reported in this section.

Although environmental ethene concentrations are dependent on both natural and anthropogenic sources, the consistently highest concentrations are measured in urban areas due to the combustion of fuel, coal and natural gas by vehicles and industrial facilities. Industrial facilities may also release ethene through production processes. Ambient remote and rural concentrations of ethene from across Canada were generally below 15 μ g/m³ (Alberta Environment 2003). The OECD Screening Information Data Set (OECD 1998) reported that ethene concentrations at rural sites ranged from < 1 – 5 μ g/m³.

During the period 1980-1993, ethene levels in Canadian urban environments ranged from 4 $\mu g/m^3$ to a high of 113 $\mu g/m^3$ under a winter inversion in Calgary (Alberta Environment 2003; Reid and Watson 1985). The Clean Air Strategic Alliance (CASA 2008) monitored air concentrations from 1995 to 2000 in Edmonton and Calgary. The range of concentrations in Edmonton was 0.29 to 71.5 $\mu g/m^3$ with an average of 7.3 $\mu g/m^3$ in the urban center, while Calgary had a range of 1.2 to 31.7 $\mu g/m^3$ with an average of 7.5 $\mu g/m^3$. In both cities, over 80% of the monitoring data was below 10 $\mu g/m^3$.

Air concentration data from forty-nine National Air Pollution Surveillance (NAPS) air monitoring network sites (Environment Canada 2011) for the years 2000 to 2009 were selected and analyzed. Data from some monitoring stations were not included in the ecological assessment as not all locations were considered relevant. Sampling periods were either 4 hours or 24 hours long depending on the site and other parameters (many sites were sampled for four hours). All sites were re-classified from their original designation as remote (background), rural, or urban based on their respective locations in Canada and proximity to cities and townships (urban), agricultural and semi-developed areas (rural) or areas that were considered minimally impacted (remote). Differences among these three types of sites were investigated using average values from each site in an Analysis of Variance test (ANOVA) followed by pair-wise comparisons using the Tukey test (Minitab 2005). There was a statistically significant difference among groups (*P*<0.001), with significant pair-wise differences between the urban and rural sites as well as the urban and background sites. Table 6 shows the air concentrations at the three different site types for two periods, 2000-2003 and 2005-2009.

The concentration of ethene in urban areas was considerably higher than that in background and rural areas. This was likely due to vehicle emissions and the presence of industrial sources of ethene. While two of the NAPS monitoring stations are near industrial sources of

pollution, the remainder are not, so a statistic analysis of the co-occurrence of ethene and industries was not possible. The few reported monitoring programs at petrochemical facilities reported highly variable concentrations of ethene. One facility in Alberta detected a range of 2.29 to 232.74 µg/m³ from May to September of the same year, 2000, (the maximum 6-hr average for the month) with an average value of 48.6 µg/m³ (Alberta Environment 2003). Areas close to such facilities will receive higher peak values of ethene.

The highest daily concentration (Table 6) from recent (2009) air monitoring in an urban setting was 32.9 $\mu g/m^3$ reported at a site in Sarnia, Ontario. This site has several ethene producing or using industries and has highly variable air concentrations of ethene. The average concentration of ethene in urban areas in Canada has decreased over a period of 10 years from 2000-2009. The average from 2000 to 2003 was 2.03 $\mu g/m^3$ while the average for 2005-2009 was 1.70 $\mu g/m^3$.

Between 2005 and 2009, the highest daily concentration at rural sites (Table 6) across Canada was 7.5 μ g/m³, which occurred in the town of Quesnel, British Columbia (Environment Canada 2011). The average concentration of ethene at rural monitoring locations has increased slightly from 0.34 μ g/m³ between 2000-2003 to 0.46 μ g/m³ between 2005 and 2009; it is not known if this is an actual trend or simply variation in the data.

The highest daily concentration at remote sites across Canada between 2005 and 2009 (Table 6) was 1.7 μ g/m³, nearly unchanged from the period 2000-2003. The average concentration of ethene was 0.23 μ g/m³ between 2000 and 2003 and 0.21 μ g/m³ between 2005 and 2009. It can be reasonably stated that ethene concentrations in remote regions of Canada are very low and have not changed significantly in the recent past nor is ethene being transported over long ranges from sites with higher concentrations.

Table 6. Daily air concentration data at different types of sites for the periods, 2000-2003 and 2005-2009 (Environment Canada 2011).

A) 2000-2003

Site Type	Min conc. (μg/m³)	Max. conc. (µg/m³)	Mean conc. (μg/m³)	Data Points (n)
Remote Sites (n=5)	0.01	1.80	0.23	519
Rural Sites (n=9)	0.03	5.57	0.34	1653
Urban Sites (n=35)	0.05	38.43	2.03	3252

B) 2005-2009

Site Type	Min conc. (μg/m³)	Max. conc. (μg/m³)	Mean conc. (μg/m³)	Data Points (n)
Remote Sites (n=5)	0.01	1.70	0.21	1841
Rural Sites (n=9)	0.05	7.5	0.46	7010
Urban Sites (n=35)	0.102	32.9	1.70	10 521

Canadian data on the release of ethene from industrial sites was provided by both industry and by regional environmental associations, representing monitoring at either only industrial fence lines (industry submissions) or both industrial fence lines and further afield (environmental association monitoring).

Considering only the industrial submissions, the range of 3-day maximum concentrations over the entire year reported by a variety of facilities at fence lines from 2007 – 2012 was 6 $\mu g/m^3$ to 78 $\mu g/m^3$, with an average of 27 $\mu g/m^3$ and a median of 22 $\mu g/m^3$. The majority of 3-day maximums were in the range of 10 – 35 $\mu g/m^3$. All measurements considered are offsite measurements located near ethene producing industries (NOVA Chemicals 2013; Dow Chemicals 2013).

The annual average concentration reported by industry ranges from 1.0 $\mu g/m^3$ to 5.6 $\mu g/m^3$ with an average at fence line of 3.5 $\mu g/m^3$ in Canada (NOVA Chemicals 2013; Dow Chemicals 2013).

Regional monitoring of ethene was conducted by an environmental association in the Sarnia-Lambton area of Ontario; this region contains several industrial sources of ethene as well as vehicle and urban emissions (including from a major provincial highway). Hourly data from January 2008 to December 2012 in this urbanized, industrial area were provided, and 3-day averages were calculated in order to compare against industry data. The maximum 3-day average ethene concentrations ranged from $4-140~\mu g/m^3$ with an average maximum of 26 $\mu g/m^3$ and a median of 17 $\mu g/m^3$ (SLEA 2013). Data from five monitoring stations were provided. Three monitoring stations were at industrial fence lines while two were further afield. The two furthest stations were approximately 13 km apart.

The 2008-2012 environmental monitoring data in the Sarnia-Lambton area had an abnormally high 3-day average of $280~\mu\text{g/m}^3$ in 2012. Upon further investigation, this value was caused by an event lasting only 6 hours in the early morning of August 3, 2012, when ethene concentrations spiked across all five monitoring stations in the region. The cause of this increase is not known but was atypical. Given that this event was isolated, was of very short duration and the ethene concentrations returned to their prior values, this data was removed from consideration in the risk assessment.

Ecological Effects Assessment

Terrestrial Plants

Ethene is produced and used as a hormone in higher plants, as such it has effects on many growth and developmental processes depending on concentration, growth stage during exposure, and length of exposure. Many growth effects are reversible if they do not continue for very long; developmental processes however, are often not reversible if the process has a short time-frame within which to occur, such as flower development. Ethene exposure promotes early leaf abscission (drop) and epinastic growth (leaf curling), it can stunt root growth, and it also affects developmental processes involved in reproduction such as flower bud formation and development, fruit ripening, and extent of flowering (Blankenship and

Kemble 1996; Alberta Environment 2003). The impact of effects on flowering is a reduction in the ability to reproduce; the effects on roots and leaves can lead to stunted growth. However, because ethene is a plant hormone not all effects are negative. An air concentration of approximately 12 μ g/m³ stimulates growth in many plants if exposure is at the right time, and can protect them against water loss (Reid and Watson 1985). The agriculture industry exploits these effects by using ethene to ripen green-picked fruit and to delay flower opening during transport to markets.

At air concentrations between 5.6 and 12 μ g/m³ both positive and negative effects start to appear in various plant species (see Tables 7a and 7b). Some cereals, such as barley and oats, appear to be highly sensitive to ethene at air concentrations as low as 34.4 μ g/m³, showing a 63% reduced seed production (Archambault and Li 2000). Tomatoes show slight curling of leaves at 11.45 μ g/m³, and peas show a reduction in the elongation of the epicotyl during germination at this concentration, while canola has increased seed production at 12 μ g/m³ (Blankenship and Kemble 1996; Goeschel and Kays 1975; Reid and Watson 1985). Conifers (spruce and pine) do not show effects at concentrations as high as 1,374 μ g/m³ over short exposure periods (1 hour) (Archambault and Li 2001). Goeschl and Kays (1975) note that the stage of development can influence the type of response to ethene, as can the length of exposure (Dueck et al. 2003) and whether plants have a recovery time (Tonneijck et al. 2000). Some authors suggest that the lack of a recovery period is why plants in experiments appear to be more sensitive to ethene than do plants exposed in the environment where exposure from industrial releases is not constant and is often of short duration (Tonneijck et al. 2003).

Potatoes (*Solanum tuberrosum*) exposed to 515 μ g/m³ of ethene for up to 12 h during daylight had increased stomatal closures, which reduced photosynthesis for up to three consecutive days. Similar exposure during dark hours did not affect photosynthesis. Potatoes that experienced reductions in photosynthesis were found to recover within 48 h (Dueck et al. 2003). When exposed to ethene at 515 μ g/m³ for longer than 12 h, irreversible damage of the photosynthetic apparatus followed (Dueck et al. 2003; Archambault and Li 2001; Table 7b).

It is difficult to predict the response of a particular species to exogenous ethene; closely related species can respond differently, and even agronomic cultivars can respond differently to ethene. In barley (*Hordeum vulgare*), the cultivar "Harrington" was very sensitive to ethene while the cultivar "AC Lacombe" was not (Archambault et al. 2006). Rajala et al. (2002) found that of the cereals, barley and oats are sensitive to ethene, but that wheat and rice are not. Fiorani et al. (2002) found that among four species of the grass genus *Poa*, two species responded positively to low concentrations of ethene and two responded negatively. This response was based more on growth habit than any other apparent attribute of the plants.

Table 7a. Effect of chronic (>14 days) ethene exposure and effects on Canadian crop species

Species	Ethene Air Conc. (µg/m³)	Exposure Period	Effect	Reference
Barley (<i>Hordeum vulgare</i> cv. Harrington)	5.6	n/a	NOAEC/Thresh old for 10% decrease in seed yield ¹	Archambault and Li 2001
Mixed species of plants	6.1	28 days	Threshold for epinastic effects	Tonneijck and van Dijk 2000
Oat (<i>Avena sativa</i> L. cv. Random)	8	100 days	Per plant floret number decreased by 22 %	Reid and Watson 1985
Tomato (<i>Lycopersicon</i> esculentum) "Red Robin"	11.45	56-77 days	No effect on fruit set	Blankenship and Kemble 1996
Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) "Red Robin"	11.45	50 days	38% incidence in mild epinastic growth of leaves	Blankenship and Kemble 1996
Canola (<i>Brassica</i> campestris L.)	12	87 days	Per plant seed yield increased by 188%	Reid and Watson 1985
Barley (<i>Hordeum vulgare</i> cv. Harrington)	34.4	14 days	63% seed yield reduction	Archambault and Li 2001
Canola (<i>Brassica</i> campestris L.)	41	87 days	No difference from control	Reid and Watson 1985
Oat (<i>Avena sativa</i> L. cv. Random)	41	100 days	Per plant floret number decreased by 42 %	Reid and Watson 1985
Canola (<i>Brassica</i> campestris L.)	57	31 days	20% seed yield reduction	Archambault and Li 2001
Wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> L.)	57	20-25 days	37% seed yield reduction	Klassen and Bugbee 2002
Rice (<i>Oryza sativa</i> L.) "Super Dwarf"	57	49 days	50% seed yield reduction	Klassen and Bugbee 2002
Tomato (<i>Lycopersicon</i> esculentum) "Red Robin"	57.25	56-77 days	Fruit set reduced by up to 85%	Blankenship and Kemble 1996
Easter lily (<i>Lilium</i> longiflorum)	58	77 days	Flower stunting, bud abortion and distortion	Blankenship et al. 1993

Species	Ethene Air Conc. (µg/m³)	Exposure Period	Effect	Reference
Barley (<i>Hordeum vulgare</i> cv. Harrington)	70.9	n/a	Threshold for 25% decrease in seed yield	Archambault and Li 2001
Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) "Red Robin"	114.5	56-77 days	Fruit number failed 100%	Blankenship and Kemble 1996
Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) "Red Robin"	114.5	50 days	No effect on height.	Blankenship and Kemble 1996
Canola (<i>Brassica</i> campestris L.)	175	87 days	Per plant seed yield reduced by 53%	Reid and Watson 1985

¹ This is based on a log-log relationship pooling all short and long-term data from Archambault and Li (2001). It represents the concentration at which a 10% decrease in seed yield may occur and is considered a NOAEC.

Table 7b. Effect of acute (<3 days) ethene exposure on Canadian crop species

Species	Ethene Air Conc. (µg/m³)	Exposure Period	Effect	Reference
Pea (<i>Pisum sativum</i> L.)	11.5	2.5 days	8.5 ± 2.5% decrease in epicotyl elongation	Goeschl and Kays 1975
Morning glory (<i>Ipomoea</i> tricolor Cav.)	12	≥ 1 hour	Increased petal senescence	Hanson and Kende 1975
Rose (Rosa sp. cv. Lovely Girl)	23	2 days	Inhibition of flower opening	Reid et al. 1989
Barley (<i>Hordeum vulgare</i> cv. Harrington)	57	3 days	41% reduction in seed yield	Archambault and Li 2001
Carnation (<i>Dianthus</i> caryophyllus)	58	2 days	Increased flower senescence	Woltering and Harkema 1987
Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill)	58	1 day	Partial inhibition of root elongation	Konings and Jackson 1979
White mustard (Sinapis alba)	58	1 day	20% inhibition of root elongation	Konings and Jackson 1979
Pea (<i>Pisum sativum</i> L.)	124	2.5 days	50 % decrease in epicotyl elongation	Goeschl and Kays 1975

Species	Ethene Air Conc. (µg/m³)	Exposure Period	Effect	Reference
Lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta)	1374	12 hours	No effect on germination, vigour or growth	Archambault and Li 2001
White spruce (<i>Picea</i> glauca)	1374	12 hours	No effect on germination, vigour or growth	Archambault and Li 2001

The critical toxicity value (CTV) for adverse effects was based on no observed adverse effect concentrations (NOAECs) derived from the following study. Archambault and Li (2001) developed a dose-response function to determine a threshold concentration (5.6 μ g/m³; Table 7a) that would approximate a 10% decrease in seed yield by pooling all of their short-term and long-term effects data for barley cv. Harrington, the most sensitive cultivar in the study. The 10% decrease in seed yield was determined to be the detection limit for a change in seed yield in their bioassays, so this would be a NOAEC within their study. However, the short-term effects data were likely of too short a duration to cause a permanent or non-reversible effect and thus the 10% decrease in seed yield is not considered significant. Archambault and Li (2001) further determined from the dose response curve that a concentration of 70.9 μ g/m³ would be required to cause a 25% decrease in seed yield. Thus 5.6 μ g/m³ was chosen as a conservative long-term CTV for sensitive plant species based on Archambault and Li's (2000) dose response function of barley.

The value of $57 \mu g/m^3$ will be used as the short-term CTV as it reflects a 41% decrease in seed yield after 3 days of exposure to a sensitive cultivar of barley (Table 7b; Archambault and Li 2001). However, it should be noted that Archambault and Li (2001) tested two cultivars of barley and used the more sensitive cultivar (cv. *Harrington*) as it showed heightened sensitivity to ethene compared to the other cultivar (cv. *AC Lacombe*). Thus both CTVs reflect not only a sensitive species, but a sensitive cultivar within that species.

Hanson and Kende (1975) found that morning glory petals, when exposed to $12 \,\mu\text{g/m}^3$ for less than an hour, had increased petal senescence; however, it should be noted that these were detached petals and not whole plants and therefore this study is not considered appropriate for extrapolation to whole plants. Additionally, studies that looked at the effects of epinasty were not considered relevant as epinasty is not considered a harmful effect, but merely an indicator of the presence of elevated levels of ethene.

Other Terrestrial Organisms

No effects data were found on invertebrates or birds, which are most likely to be exposed to ethene.

The concentrations of ethene tested within the following mammalian studies are considerably higher than concentrations expected in the Canadian environment. Exposure to

concentrations of ethene that are considered environmentally relevant did not lead to toxic effects after exposure to rats (see Appendix 2 for further details). Short term exposure of male Fischer 344 rats resulted in no toxic effects after 5 h at 11 500 mg/m³ ethene (Guest et al., 1981). Subchronic toxicity (development of nasal legions) was observed following a 65-day exposure of male Wistar and male Fisher 344 rats to 11 472 mg/m³ ethene (6 h/day, 5 days/week) (US EPA 2009a). One long term study found no significant carcinogenic effects after two-year exposures of male and female Fischer 344 rats to 3450 mg/m³ ethene (6 h/day, 5 days/week) (CIIT 1979; Hamm et al., 1984).

The short-term LOAEC for subchronic effects on mammals is 11 500 mg/m³, and the long-term NOAEC for reproduction and developmental toxicity is 5750 mg/m³ with no adverse effects observed on reproductive performance, fertility or pregnancy (Aveyard et al. 1996 cited in OECD 1998).

Aquatic Organisms

Ethene is not expected to be released to water and thus no water exposure is expected. No adequate empirical toxicity studies on aquatic species were found.

Estimated aquatic 96-hour LC_{50} values derived from quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) models range from 50 to 116 mg/L for different fish species and 48-hr LC_{50} values for *Daphnia spp.* from 53-153 mg/L (OECD 2005). A 16 day NOAEC for *Daphnia* was estimated to be 37 mg/L. A 28 day NOAEC for the fathead minnow was estimated to be 13 mg/L after a 28 day exposure (OECD 2005). Considering that ethene is not expected to be released to water these concentrations are highly unlikely over such periods of time such that the model results are not considered relevant to Canadian release scenarios of ethene.

Ecological Risk Characterization

The approach taken for this assessment was to examine the available scientific information and develop conclusions based on a weight-of-evidence approach and using precaution as required under CEPA. Lines of evidence considered include information on the environmental sources, fate, persistence, bioaccumulation potential, and ecotoxicity of the substance.

Risk quotient (RQ) analyses, which integrate known or potential exposures with known or potential adverse ecological effects, were also performed for ethene. Only air exposure scenarios were considered in this assessment due to the low exposure potential to ethene in water, soil and sediment. Terrestrial plants were selected as the most sensitive ecological receptors to ethene in this media.

Selection of exposure scenarios

To estimate the risk to Canadian ecosystems, four exposure scenarios were developed for short-term and long-term exposure regimes with their respective predicted environmental concentrations (PEC). Based on an initial analysis of air monitoring data from across

Canada, rural and urban locations were identified as being potentially at risk from ethene emissions, likely from automotive engine emissions. Air monitoring data were used to develop averaged short-term and long-term concentrations for rural and urban areas. Industrial emissions were also assessed using two scenarios under short-term and long-term exposure regimes. Industrial and regional monitoring data were used to develop scenarios for a realistic worst-case using the Sarnia-Lambton monitoring data which combines both industrial and ambient concentrations of ethene, and an average case using the annual average of the release data for all industrial facilities in Canada.

Urban/Rural Ambient Exposure Scenarios

Two exposure scenarios were developed to determine if the ambient ethene concentrations in rural and urban Canada pose a hazard to vegetation over short- and long-terms. Each scenario reflects ambient monitoring data from either rural or urban sites across Canada compared against short- and long-term thresholds for potential negative impacts to vegetation. These values reflect average annual ethene releases from 2005-2009 across Canada.

Based on air concentrations measured at sites across Canada from 2005 to 2010, PECs for long-term ambient concentration exposure scenarios were based on the mean daily concentrations from April – September of 0.3 μ g/m³ and 1.4 μ g/m³ for rural and urban areas, respectively (Table 8). For short-term ambient exposure scenarios, the maximum concentrations of 3.2 and 32.9 μ g/m³ were used as the PECs for rural and urban areas, respectively.

Industrial Site Exposure Scenarios

Two industrial exposure scenarios were developed based on industrial and/or regional air monitoring data for both an average and realistic worst-case scenario. Both the average and the worst-case scenarios were compared against short and long-term exposure thresholds to plants.

A short-term exposure PEC for the industrial average case scenario of 26 $\mu g/m^3$ was determined using the average 3-day maximum concentration reported for the Sarnia-Lambton area of Ontario between 2008-2012 (Table 8; SLEA 2013). A long-term exposure PEC of 3.5 $\mu g/m^3$ was chosen based on the annual average concentration reported by industry (Dow Chemicals 2013; NOVA Chemicals 2013) from sites near the fenceline of ethene-releasing industries from 2007-2012 (Table 8).

PECs for the industrial realistic worst case scenario were also determined based on regional monitoring data the Sarnia-Lambton area of Ontario. A short-term exposure PEC of 140 $\mu g/m^3$ was determined based on the highest measured 3-day maximum concentration reported by industry and the environmental association (Table 8; Dow Chemicals 2013; NOVA Chemicals 2013). A long-term exposure PEC of 5.6 $\mu g/m^3$ was determined based on the highest reported industry annual average concentration (Table 8; Dow Chemicals 2013; NOVA Chemicals 2013).

Table 8: Summary of predicted exposure concentrations (µg/m³) for urban, rural and industrial exposure scenarios

Scenario	Short term	Long term
Urban ambient	32.9 ^a	1.4 ^a
Rural ambient	3.2 ^a	0.3 ^a
Industrial average	26 ^c	3.5 ^b
Industrial worst-case	140 ^c	5.6 ^b

^a Environment Canada 2011: Short-term concentrations reflect daily maximums while long-term concentrations reflect the average of daily concentrations

Selection of ecological receptors

Predicted no-effect concentrations (PNECs) are usually determined by dividing a critical toxicity value (CTV) by an assessment factor. An assessment factor of one was applied for terrestrial plants as the available data spanned a range of species, including sensitive species. Toxicity data included both laboratory and field studies; as laboratory studies are more sensitive to ethene than field exposures due to their continuous exposure, no assessment factor was considered necessary to take into account laboratory to field variability. CTVs typically represented the lowest ecotoxicity value from an available and acceptable data set. For this assessment, two CTVs were chosen to represent terrestrial plants in a short-term and a long-term exposure scenario.

A CTV of 5.6 μ g/m³ was selected to represent a concentration where no effects are seen over the long-term to a broad selection of plants (Archambault and Li 2001). For short-term exposures a CTV of 57 μ g/m³ was chosen to reflect a 41% decrease in the seed yield of a sensitive cultivar of barley (Archambault and Li 2001).

Discussion of results of risk quotient analysis

A summary of PECs, PNECs and RQ for the ambient urban and rural concentration scenarios is presented in Table 9. The RQs indicate that ambient concentrations of ethene do not pose short- or long-term risks to plants in urban areas or rural areas.

Table 9: Summary of risk quotient (RQ) analyses for ambient rural and urban concentrations of ethene, 2005 – 2009

Exposure Location	Exposure Duration	PEC μg/m³	CTV µg/m³	Assessment Factor	PNEC µg/m³	RQ
Rural	Short	1.4	57	1	57	0.02
areas	term	1.7	57	I	31	0.02
Rural	Long term	0.3	5.6	1	5.6	0.05
areas	Long term	0.5	3.0	ı	5.0	0.03
Urban	Short	32.9	57	1	57	0.6
areas	term	32.9	37	I	31	0.0

^b NOVA Chemicals 2013; Dow Chemicals 2013

^c SLEA 2013

Exposure Location	Exposure Duration	PEC μg/m³	CTV µg/m³	Assessment Factor	PNEC µg/m³	RQ
Urban areas	Long term	1.4	5.6	1	5.6	0.3

Table 10 presents the summary of the risk quotient calculations for industrial releases. The realistic worst case for industrial releases generates an RQ of 2.4 for short term exposures and an RQ of 1 for long term exposures. The average case for industrial releases generates an RQ of 0.5 for short term exposures and an RQ of 0.6 for long term exposures. These risk quotient analyses indicate that ethene could pose short-term risks to local terrestrial vegetation from worst case industrial facility releases as indicated by a risk quotient of 1 or greater.

Table 10. Summary of risk quotient (RQ) analyses for industrial releases of ethene from 2007-2012

Exposure Scenario	Exposur e Duration	PEC μg/m³	CTV µg/m³	Assessm ent Factor	PNEC µg/m³	RQ
Realistic Worst Case	Short term	140	57	1	57	2.4
Realistic Worst Case	Long term ^a	5.6	5.6	1	5.6	1 ^b
Average Case	Short term	26	57	1	57	0.5
Average Case	Long term ^a	3.5	5.6	1	5.6	0.6

^a These reflect annual concentrations and as such are not restricted to April – September ^b This reflects a NOAEC value.

Based on the PNEC of 57 $\mu g/m^3$ for an effect on seed yield of a sensitive crop plant (Archambault and Li, 2001), the number of days in 2008-2012 where the 3-day average exceeded this threshold were calculated. Only the data submitted by SLEA (2013) were suitable for this calculation. A total of 14 incidents in the entire dataset had 3-day averages above this threshold and of these days, only 7 exceedances occurred between April and September representing 0.002% of available days (SLEA, 2013). Exceedances occurred only at sites within close proximity to the source (i.e., at the fence line); none occurred further afield. This represents an approximate average of one short-term occurrence per year near ethene-releasing industrial sites of a sufficient concentration that may cause harm to plants.

For the realistic worst case industrial scenario, a risk quotient of 1 was obtained using a PNEC of 5.6 μ g/m³ for a predicted 10% decrease in seed yield in barley cv. Harrington, the most sensitive cultivar of a sensitive species tested (Archambault and Li, 2001). This value is considered to be a conservative NOAEC value and is, in fact, below the threshold concentration (12 μ g/m³) where no effects were expected by Archambault and Li (2001). At

this concentration, no effects on plants were found, regardless of exposure time, as Archambault and Li (2001) considered this value equivalent to the background, or control, concentration. Given this, the concentration of 5.6 μ g/m³ was considered a conservative value that would be protective of all impacts on plants.

In this scenario, it is assumed that plants will be exposed to a continuous concentration of ethene, which, based on monitoring data, is not the case. Ethene concentrations vary considerably both with time of day as well as with time of year. It is likely that concentrations of ethene would not be maintained at the highest levels for long periods of time, thus allowing most plants to recover. Because of these factors, the industrial worst-case scenario is not expected to cause long-term impacts on plants.

Atmospheric exposure of plants to ethene is heavily dependent on a number of external factors. Laboratory studies frequently expose plants to continuous sources of ethene while environmental exposure is far more variable, affected by such things as wind, weather and variability in stack releases over the course of a year, and often not sustained for long periods of time. Given that exposure will be discontinuous, plants may be able to recover from ethene exposure prior to being re-exposed. The propensity for recovery or reversibility of effects, however, is dependent upon concentration and duration of exposure, as well as the nature and the extent of the effects and on the species of plants, thus making the impact of environmental ethene difficult to predict.

Tonneijck et al. (2000) studied the effect of ethene exposure to potato, which is a species known to be sensitive to ethene, located near five ethene-emitting industrial plants over 10 years. Emission levels in this study were significantly higher than what would be expected from areas adjacent to ethene producing companies in Canada, with maximum hourly concentrations ranging from 307 to 7276 µg/m³ at 1000m downwind from the emission source. Despite these elevated levels, plant yield in the surrounding area was unaffected by ethene emission. Tonneijck et al. (2003) also used this same study location and design on the more ethene sensitive petunia and marigold but found that the number of flowers was unchanged from controls at distances of 400 to 460 m downwind, and increased from control numbers at a distance of up to 1000m. Plants closer than 400 m to the source of emissions did show loss of flowers and decreases to the mean growth rate.

Dueck et al. (2003) used high concentrations of ethene (range: 230 to 920 μ g/m³) injected at ground level into open-top chambers on potatoes grown in the field. They found that potato leaves recovered fully after 12 hours of exposure and 3 days of recovery time. Overall, there was a decrease in the number of flower clusters; however, potato yield (including size or frequency of misformed potatoes) was unaffected regardless of concentration or frequency of treatment with ethene.

Other studies found that if exposure to ethene was terminated prior to irreversible effects, such as leaves falling off, plants were capable of recovering from exposure (Klassen and Bugbee 2002). Archambault and Li (2001) found that field pea were capable of recovering from long-term exposure of 115 μ g/m³ over 16 days, given sufficient time. Additionally, Archambault and Li (2001) found that exposure of barley plants to ethene concentrations

mimicking ethene monitoring data from the worst month at a nearby petrochemical facility (range \sim 11.5 to 300 μ g/m³) had no negative effects on the plants, likely caused by the intermittent nature of the exposure.

Given these kinds of emission data, it is very unlikely that plants are being exposed to ethene for sufficiently continuous lengths of time to cause long term impacts. While individual release events may cause very high concentrations of ethene in the atmosphere for a short period of time, these exposures are limited in time due to the rapid dispersal of ethene in the environment and the lack of long-term or prolonged exposure. Short-term exposure exceeds the PNEC approximately once per year and the long-term exposure values reflect the highest annual concentration in all years, including concentrations occurring over the winter months.

Some species of plants exposed to high concentrations of ethene can show an increase in epinasty, root length reduction, flower abscission, and ripening of the flower or fruit. However, these concentrations have also been found to promote fruit ripening and increase seed yield. Additionally, plants exposed in the environment tend to show a greater resistance to ethene exposure compared to plants studied in laboratory settings and, in both cases, when plants are given a recovery period, recovery can often be seen, especially in regards to leaf curling and growth inhibition.

Consideration of Lines of Evidence and Conclusion

Ethene is a naturally occurring substance and it is produced and used in large quantities in Canada. Anthropogenic releases are expected to be exclusively to air, mainly from combustion of fossil fuels (vehicle emissions) and industrial processes.

Ethene is not persistent in air and has low potential for long range transport. It is also not bioaccumulative.

Ethene is a precursor to ground level ozone. It is considered to have a Photochemical Ozone Creation Potential (POCP) of 100 and is the standard chemical for comparison with other chemicals. As well, a common degradation product of ethene in air is formaldehyde. Both ozone and formaldehyde are substances listed on Schedule 1 of CEPA.

Terrestrial plants are highly sensitive to ethene in air. However, risk quotients showed ambient concentrations were unlikely to have impacts in urban areas or in rural areas over either short- or long-term exposures. A risk quotient analysis using industrial ethene monitoring data for the years 2008 – 2012 indicated that there is, on average, one occurrence per year that has the potential to be harmful to terrestrial plants due to industrial emissions of ethene. A risk quotient analysis was not performed for terrestrial mammals as mammalian toxicity values were orders of magnitude greater than air concentrations expected to occur in Canada.

A major anthropogenic source of ethene is the internal combustion engine, which explains in part why ethene air concentrations in Canadian cities can be considerably higher than in rural and remote areas. Advances have been made in the last 20 years in reducing pollutants,

including ethene, from the exhaust of internal combustion engines. Canadian urban air ethene concentrations from the 1980s and 1990s ranged from 4 to 113 μ g/m³ (Alberta Environment 2003), while recent air monitoring (2005-2009) provides a range of 0.1 to 32.9 μ g/m³ (Environment Canada 2011). There appears to be a trend to lower air concentrations in Canadian cities, even over the last 10 years, which follows the reductions in other pollutants from automobile exhaust. Further reductions are expected as a result of more stringent requirements for NOx, SOx, and VOCs in automobile exhaust and with continual removal of older cars from use.

Facilities manufacturing, processing, or otherwise using more than 10 tonnes per year of the substance must report their releases to the National Pollutant Release Inventory (NPRI). In 2009, facilities across Canada reported to the NPRI on-site environmental releases totalling approximately 1320 tonnes. Industrial releases have dropped by over 50% since 2000 largely due to the amount of ethene being recycled.

Based on the information presented above, there is low risk of harm to organisms or the broader integrity of the environment from this substance. It is therefore concluded that ethene does not meet any of the criteria under paragraphs 64(a) or (b) of CEPA, as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity or that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

Uncertainties in the Evaluation of Ecological Risk

The responses of specific plants to ethene are difficult to predict, as even closely related species can have variable responses when tested simultaneously. The duration and concentration of exposure to ethene are both important variables when considering the effects of ethene on plants; however, many studies only addressed one of these variables at a time. Additionally, there are few tests that specifically address sensitive life stages of plants as most studies focus on horticultural concerns such as flower appearance for the purpose of the transportation of cut flowers.

The most sensitive species available in addition to the most sensitive cultivar of that species was used to maintain a conservative approach to determining potential impacts on plants. The endpoint chosen for short-term exposure represented a significant effect and it is possible that lower concentrations may have still had a significant effect on barley. The long-term exposure scenario for ethene assumed that the modelled value of 5.6 μ g/m³ is a no effect concentration and it is considered a conservative value. However, the Archambault and Li study used 12 μ g/m³ as their baseline concentration as it aligned with monitoring data at the time and was considered a reasonable estimate of background concentrations. It is likely, based on monitoring data, that background concentrations are lower than those supposed in the Archambault and Li study.

There is also uncertainty in this assessment related to the exposure characterization of ethene, which is based on monitoring data that shows considerable variation between sites and considerable variation over time. Based on the available monitoring data, ethene

concentrations can vary on a daily basis or on an hourly basis due to the way it is released and the way ethene disperses in the environment. As opposed to the variable concentrations plants are exposed to in the environment, most studies used continuous exposure to ethene. This uncertainty was dealt with by developing conservative exposure scenarios using both the realistic worst case and the average case.

Potential to Cause Harm to Human Health

Exposure Assessment

Given ethene's physical-chemical properties, it is expected to volatilize to air and is not likely to occur in significant quantities in soil or drinking water. As such, inhalation is expected to be the predominant route of human exposure. As a common volatile organic compound (VOC), ethene has been well documented in air quality monitoring studies in Canada (e.g., Health Canada 2010a; Health Canada 2010b) and elsewhere (e.g., Altuzar et al. 2005; Badol et al. 2008; Olson et al. 2009; Lai and Peng 2011). Ethene has been investigated in traffic-related urban air studies (Cheng et al. 1994; Weichenthal et al. 2011; Environment Canada 2011), as well as in air monitoring surrounding industrial facilities in Canada (Cheng et al. 1997; Environment Canada 2011). Ethene is not added to foodstuffs or to beverages; however is it released naturally from fruits and other plant products. Ethene may be used as a welding gas, refrigerant and commercial ripening agent for produce. Ethene occurs as a product of incomplete combustion in vehicular exhaust (e.g., Tosaka et al. 1989; Taylor et al. 1994; Cheung et al. 2008) and in cigarette smoke (Löfroth et al. 1989; Barrefors and Petersson 1993; Baren et al. 2004).

Health Canada has recently measured personal exposure to ethene by monitoring outdoor, indoor and personal air concentrations in residential areas in three Canadian studies: Windsor Ontario Exposure Assessment Study (WOEAS) (Health Canada 2010 a), Regina Indoor Air Quality Study (RIAQS) (Health Canada 2010b), and Halifax Indoor Air Quality Study (HIAQS) (Health Canada 2011). As part of a residential air monitoring campaign, these studies serve to determine personal exposure to VOCs of the general population across Canada. Prior to this, available information on ethene with regards to indoor air and personal air in particular were limited. These studies, along with others deemed relevant for assessing ethene exposure for the general Canadian population, are discussed below and summarized in Table 11.

Outdoor Air

The National Air Pollution Surveillance (NAPS) program referred to in the Ecological Exposure Assessment Section represents the most exhaustive source of outdoor air monitoring data in Canada. A total of 64 monitoring sites across Canada gathered ethene concentrations between 2005 and 2009, the period selected and evaluated here. NAPS-designated monitoring site types for this 5-yr period were dominated by residential (28) and commercial (18) sites, followed by undeveloped rural (8), agricultural (6), forested rural (2), and industrial (2) sites. Ethene concentrations were measured either over a 24-hr or 4-hr period for a given site. Individual values measured across all sites ranged from 0.03 to 74.98 $\mu g/m^3$, while 95th percentiles ranged from 0.39 to 14.2 $\mu g/m^3$. The lowest median concentration of ethene (0.03 $\mu g/m^3$) was reported from the Alert site, an undeveloped rural site located in Alert, Nunavut. However, this site had been online during 2 years (i.e., 2005 and 2006) only. The Kemjimkujik National Park site located in Nova Scotia, which was online during the entirety of the 5 years, had the second lowest levels of ethene with a median value of 0.132 $\mu g/m^3$ and a 95th percentile 0.39 $\mu g/m^3$. The highest median concentration of ethene

(2.9 $\mu g/m^3$) was recorded at the Aamjiwnaang site, a residential site located in Sarnia, Ontario. Concentrations at this site ranged from 0.4 to 25.0 $\mu g/m^3$ and corresponded to a 95th percentile of 11.0 $\mu g/m^3$. The highest 95th percentile of all sites, 14.2 $\mu g/m^3$, was reported at the Centennial Park monitoring site, a residential site also located in Sarnia, Ontario, (Environment Canada 2011).

As described in the Ecological Assessment section, regional monitoring of ethene in the Sarnia-Lambton area of Ontario was conducted from January 2008 to December 2012 by the Sarnia-Lambton Environmental Association (SLEA 2013). This region contains several industrial sources of ethene as well as vehicle and urban emissions (including from a major provincial highway). Hourly data for five monitoring stations were provided. Twenty-four-hour averages were computed for each year from 2008 to 2012 for the River Bend site, the site closest to a residential area. Overall values for this site ranged from detection limit to 30.0 ug/m³ [26.1 ppb], and the highest 95th percentile of 1.8 ug/m³ [5.4 ppb] was observed during 2009 (SLEA 2013).

Alberta is the largest fossil fuel producing province in Canada (Cheng et al. 1997). In Edmonton, besides vehicular emissions, VOCs are emitted from industrial facilities close to the city. In order to investigate emissions from industrial sources as well as from transportation, Cheng et al. (1997) measured VOC concentrations in air at two sites between 1991 and 1993: the downtown core of Edmonton, Alberta and an industrial complex in the outskirts of the city. Both sites were separated by roughly 9 km. The downtown sampling site was located on the roof of a one-storey building. The industrial complex, on the other hand, was sampled using a trailer placed in an open field with hydrocarbon storage tanks, oil refineries, smelter and chemical and shingle manufacturing plants within 200 m to 2.5 km. At the downtown site, ethene accounted for 3.9 % of total carbon measured, which corresponded to a median concentration of 4.99 µg/m³. Levels at the industrial site were lower with a median concentration of 4.53 μ g/m³, accounting for 2.2 % of total carbon. Ethene was the 7th most abundant species at the downtown site while at the industrial site, it was ranked 10th out of the 20 most abundant species representing the majority (i.e., ~80%) of total VOC carbon. Vehicular emissions were expected to be the major sources for VOCs in the downtown area. The distinct concentration profile of VOCs at either location reflected the emissions limited to the surrounding area. As such, the authors noted that reducing emissions at one site would not significantly affect VOC concentrations at the other (Cheng et al. 1997).

In 2010 Health Canada published the Windsor Ontario Exposure Assessment Study (WOEAS) on the exposure of 188 VOCs in outdoor, indoor and personal air samples collected in the vicinity of Windsor, Ontario homes (Health Canada 2010a). One hundred participants were involved in this study. Five consecutive 24-hr samples were collected during the winter and summer periods of 2005 and 2006. Summary statistics were computed for both seasons during each year. Ethene concentrations in outdoor air ranged from 0.2 to 11.7 μ g/m³ across all measurements. The highest median concentration of ethene in outdoor air of 3.0 μ g/m³ was reported during the 2005 winter period, with a corresponding 95th percentile of 6.8 μ g/m³. Concentrations recorded during the following winter (2006) were lower with a median concentration of 1.6 μ g/m³, and a 95th percentile of 3.1 μ g/m³. Median

concentrations during the summer season for both 2005 and 2006 were 1.2 and 1.1 μ g/m³, respectively, and 95th percentile values were 3.6 and 2.4 μ g/m³.

In 2010 Health Canada also published the Regina Indoor Air Quality Study (RIAQS) on the exposure of 194 VOCs in outdoor and indoor air samples collected in residential areas located in Regina Saskatchewan to provide information on exposure (Health Canada 2010b). This city in particular was selected given the scarcity of air quality exposure data for the Prairie Provinces. Indoor and outdoor air samples were collected in one or both of two 10-week sampling sessions during the winter and summer of 2007 only from a total of 146 participating homes. Summary statistics for each VOC were calculated for each season. Concentrations of ethene in outdoor air throughout the entire study ranged from 0.2 to 8.1 $\mu g/m^3$. The highest ethene concentrations corresponded to the winter samples (24-hr only), with a median concentration of 1.0 $\mu g/m^3$ and a 95th percentile value of 4.0 $\mu g/m^3$. As for the summer season, the median concentration of ethene for the paired 24-hr samples was found to be 0.6 $\mu g/m^3$ with a 95th percentile of 1.4 $\mu g/m^3$. The 5-day samples that were also collected during the summer sampling period only were comparable to the summer 24-hr samples with a median concentration of 0.7 $\mu g/m^3$ and 95th percentile of 1.4 $\mu g/m^3$.

Health Canada's most recent study, the Halifax Indoor Air Quality Study (HIAQS), also measured 193 VOCs in outdoor and indoor air samples in residential areas of Halifax, Nova Scotia (Health Canada 2011). Samples were collected for 7 consecutive 24-hr periods over the 2009 winter and summer seasons from a total of 50 participating homes, and summary statistics were also computed per season. Ethene concentrations measured in outdoor air during the course of the study ranged from 0.1 to 5.9 μ g/m³. The highest median concentration of ethene (0.7 μ g/m³) was recorded during the winter period, with a 95th percentile concentration nearly three times higher (2.1 μ g/m³). The median concentration of ethene during the summer season was found to be 0.4 μ g/m³ with a 95th percentile concentration of 0.9 μ g/m³.

For all three HC studies, ethene outdoor air concentrations were higher (statistical significance unknown) in the winter than in the summer season. Several air monitoring studies in urban areas have also observed this same seasonal trend (Chang et al. 2005; Curren et al. 2006; Olson et al. 2009; Matsunaga et al. 2010; Lai and Peng 2011). An increase in VOC concentrations during the winter period can be due to the reduced height of the ground level mixing layer, thus limiting vertical transport of atmospheric pollutants and aggravating accumulation (Cheng et al. 1997; Badol et al. 2008). Also, higher concentrations of certain VOCs during the winter compared to the summer may be attributed to reduced atmospheric reactivity (Curren et al. 2006).

Although ethene is not a fuel component, it is present in motor vehicle exhaust as a result of incomplete combustion of fossil fuels (IARC 1994), which constitutes a major source of ethene exposure for commuters. Weichenthal et al. (2011) recently measured the concentrations of VOCs in outdoor samples in Ottawa, Ontario to examine the relationship between traffic pollution and impacts on heart rate variability and respiratory function for cyclists. Outdoor air samples were collected in the downtown core (high-traffic route) and along a bike path (low-traffic route). The median concentration of ethene along the high-

traffic route was 2.6 µg/m³, which was expectedly higher than the median concentration of 0.8 µg/m³ measured along the low-traffic route. A similar study was carried out among commuters in Dublin, Ireland in February of 2003 (O'Donoghue et al. 2007). Air samples were collected from the inside of a bus at respiratory level, and using an adapted carrier bag to house the sampling equipment on the bicycle. The bus and bicycle followed the same route. The mean air concentration of ethene for bus and bicycle passengers was 11.92 and 7.77 ppb (10.37 and 6.76 prespectively. Other international studies have reported similar ethene concentrations in outdoor air in high-traffic areas (Chang et al. 2005; Franco et al. 2010; Matsunaga et al. 2010).

A number of recent international studies have measured ethene in outdoor air also. For example, in the US, Olson et al. (2009) reported concentrations of 55 volatile organic compounds in samples collected near a highway in Raleigh, North Carolina. The highest mean concentration for ethene was 3.10 ppbv (2.70 μg/m³). In Mexico, Altuzar et al. (2005) collected samples in March 1999 and November 2001. They reported the highest mean of 40.3 ppbv (35.06 µg/m³) of ethene collected at their industrial sampling site in November 2001. In Europe, Badol et al. (2008) measured 53 VOCs for 1 year from September 2002 to August 2003 in an urban area of France. They reported an ethene concentration range of 0.02 to 231 ppb (mean of 3.06 ppb) (0.017 to 201, mean of 2.66 µg/m³). In Asia, Lai and Peng (2011) measured 56 hydrocarbons in a vehicle tunnel for 12 days during 2007 and 2008. They reported a range of means of 15.2 to 118.3 ppb (13.2 to 103 µg/m³). Matsunaga et al. (2010) reported a range of mean ethene concentrations of 1.1 to 14.4 ppbv (0.96 to 12.5 µg/m³) measured at five sites in the Tokyo metropolitan area of Japan during the summer and winter of 2008. Finally, in the Arctic, Hopkins et al. (2002) reported the mean concentrations at three sampling sites to be 412.6, 21.7 and 17.1 pptv (0.3589, 0.0189 and 0.0149 µg/m³) for samples collected during the summer of 1999.

Indoor Air

Much of the earlier ethene monitoring information is focused on the outdoor environment, particularly near high traffic areas. However, it is well known that indoor concentrations of VOCs are often more predictive of personal exposure given some important indoor sources of certain VOCs (Stocco et al. 2008). This is particularly relevant for the Canadian population given Canadians spend roughly 90% of their time indoors (Health Canada 1998).

In the Windsor Study, indoor air concentrations of ethene across all samples collected in 2005 and 2006 in Windsor, Ontario homes ranged from 0.3 to 133.7 μ g/m³ (Health Canada 2010a). The highest median concentration of ethene (3.5 μ g/m³) was captured during the 2005 winter period, and was associated to the highest 95th percentile of 23.9 μ g/m³. The median concentration of ethene measured indoors during the winter for the following year (2006) was found to be slightly lower 2.7 μ g/m³, with a 95th percentile concentration of 11.4 μ g/m³, and reasons and significance for this interannual difference were not discussed. As for the summer season, the median concentrations of ethene during 2005 and 2006 were 3.2 and 2.5, respectively, while 95th percentile values were considerably higher at 16.8 and 16.3 μ g/m³, respectively (Health Canada 2010a).

The Regina Study measured ethene concentrations in air samples collected in homes in Regina, Saskatchewan during the 2007 winter and summer seasons (Health Canada 2010b). Due to the different VOC signature produced by environmental tobacco smoke, the indoor VOC results were for homes without smokers were separated from those with smokers. Only homes without smokers are discussed in this section for comparability to the Windsor and Halifax studies, which did not include homes with smokers. Ethene concentrations in Regina homes (without smokers) ranged from 0.4 to 21.0 μ g/m³ across all samples. The 24-hr and 5-day samples were generally similar for a given season. The highest median concentration of ethene of 2.8 μ g/m³ was reported during the winter (24-hr and 5-day), although the highest 95th percentile (10.9 μ g/m³) for the 5-day samples was slightly higher than that of the 24-hr samples (10.5 μ g/m³). The summer indoor median values for this study were found to be 1.6 and 2.0 μ g/m³ for the 24-hr and 5-day samples, respectively, while the 95th percentiles were found to be 7.6 and 7.2 μ g/m³, respectively.

The Halifax Study reported ethene concentrations for indoor air samples collected in 2009 in homes located in Halifax, Nova Scotia (Health Canada 2011). Ethene concentrations in indoor air of all participating homes in Halifax ranged from 0.3 to 80.9 μ g/m³ across all samples. The median concentration of ethene in indoor air during the winter season was 1.7 μ g/m³ with a corresponding seasonal maximum 95th percentile of 7.4 μ g/m³. The summer season median concentration was 0.9 μ g/m³ with a corresponding 95th percentile of 3.5 μ g/m³.

In addition to the Health Canada air monitoring studies, Canadian indoor air concentrations of ethene in Ottawa, Ontario office building have recently been reported by Weichenthal et al. (2011). The aim of the study was to determine the exposure of cyclists to atmospheric pollutants as described earlier. The median concentration of ethene in the office building was 1.56 $\mu g/m^3$, which was lower than the outdoor high-traffic concentration (2.6 $\mu g/m^3$), but higher than the low-traffic concentration (0.8 $\mu g/m^3$) measured in this study.

The Health Canada studies (Health Canada 2010a; Health Canada 2010b; Health Canada 2011) as well as Weichenthal et al. (2011) show that indoor ethene concentrations can be higher than those outdoors. For instance, in the Windsor Study 2006 winter period, the 95th percentile concentration for indoor air (23.9 µg/m³) was roughly 3.5-fold higher than the paired outdoor air 95th percentile concentration (6.8 µg/m³). The presence of ethene in indoor environments may arise from both outdoor and indoor sources. As an incomplete combustion product, ethene and many VOCs in general may be present in homes as a result of cigarette smoking (Löfroth et al. 1989; Barrefors and Petersson 1993; Baren et al. 2004), vehicle exhaust infiltrating from attached garages (Stocco et al. 2008), wood burning (Barrefors and Petersson 1995), the presence of a gas stove (Stocco et al. 2008), and other combustion activities (e.g., cooking and candle burning).

Endogenous production of ethene by fruit and vegetables (see Environmental Assessment Section and Human Health Section–Food and Beverages) also constitutes a source of ethene in indoor air although the relative contribution is expected to be negligible in residential settings. Ethene has been measured in gas emanating from human skin, or skin gas, at an average amount of $20 \pm 11 \text{ pg/cm}^2$ (mean $\pm \text{SD}$) over the course of 30 minutes

(Nose et al. 2005); however, skin gas is also expected to be a negligible source of ethene in homes.

Personal Air

Health Canada's Windsor Exposure Assessment Study (WEAS) included personal air concentrations for the winter and summer of 2005 (Health Canada 2010a). Personal air reflects samples collected using an adapted carrier bag to house the sampling equipment which adult participants carried with them wherever they went throughout the day (i.e., mobile sampling). As opposed to stationary sampling, mobile sampling captures activity patterns (both indoors and outdoors) of participants, thus representing a refinement in exposure estimates. Research has shown that VOC concentrations are often higher in personal air than in corresponding outdoor air (Wallace et al 1985; Sexton et al 2007); personal concentrations of ethene in Health Canada's Windsor Study were no exception. The personal air concentrations of ethene for Windsor participants ranged from 1.1 to 120.5 µg/m³. The median concentrations of personal air in the winter and summer were 3.8 and 3.4 µg/m³, respectively, which were higher than the corresponding outdoor concentrations of 3.0 and 1.2 µg/m³, respectively. However, median levels for personal air were slightly lower than paired indoor air levels of 3.5 and 3.2 µg/m³ for winter and summer, respectively. Concentrations of ethene in personal air samples collected during the winter ranged from 1.1 to 66.1 µg/m³ while concentrations of ethene during the summer season ranged from 1.3 to 120.5 µg/m³. The highest 95th percentile for seasonal personal air concentrations was measured in the summer, at 16.9 µg/m³

Table 11. Outdoor, indoor, and personal air concentrations of ethene in Canada.

Table 11-A. Outdoor Air

		Sampling Period and		Mean (Range)	Median	P95
Reference	Location	Duration	n	(µ g/m ³)	(µg/m³)	(µg/m³)
Environment	Residential	2005-2009	182	3.9	1.8	14.2
Canada 2011	Centennial Park-	24-hr		(0.2-32.9)		
(NAPS ⁱ)	Sarnia, ON ⁱⁱ					
Environment	Residential	2005-2009	40	4.0	2.9	11.0
Canada 2011	Aamjiwnaang –	24-hr		(0.4-25.0)		
(NAPS)	Sarnia, ON ⁱⁱⁱ					
Environment	Industrial	2005-2009	294	3.0	1.9	8.7
Canada 2011	Edmonton East –	24-hr		(0.2-31.6)		
(NAPS)	Edmonton, AB					
Environment	Commercial	2005-2009	217	2.1	1.4	6.2
Canada 2011	Prg Plaza –	24-hr		(0.2-14.2)		
(NAPS)	Prince George,					
	BC					

		Sampling		Mean		P95
		Period and		(Range)	Median	2.
Reference	Location	Duration	n	(µ g/m³)	(µg/m³)	(µg/m³)
Environment	Agricultural Rural	2005-2009	284	1.7	1.1	4.7
Canada 2011	Rivière-des-	24-hr		(0.2-39.4)		
(NAPS)	prairies –					
	Montreal, QC					
Environment	Forested Rural	2005-2009	89	0.5	0.3	1.5
Canada 2011	Syncrude UE1–	24-hr		(0.1-2.3)		
(NAPS)	Fort Mackay, AB	2005 2000	22	0.7	0.6	1.6
Environment	Undeveloped	2005-2009 24-hr	33	0.7	0.6	1.6
Canada 2011	rural	24-111		(0.2-1.7)		
(NAPS)	Hope Airport –					
	Metro Van-Hope, BC					
Environment	Undeveloped	2005-2009	98	0.1	0.0	0.4
Canada 2011	rural	4-hr		(0.0-1.0)	0.0	0.1
(NAPS)	Alert, NU ^{iv}	' '''		(0.0 1.0)		
Health	Windsor, ON	2005 Winter	126	3.2	3.0	6.8
Canada	, , ,	24-hr		(0.8-11.7)		
2010a				,		
(WOAES)						
Health	Windsor, ON	2005	216	1.5	1.2	3.6
Canada		Summer		(0.2-4.7)		
2010a		24-hr				
(WOAES)						
Health	Windsor, ON	2006 Winter	215	1.7	1.6	3.1
Canada		24-hr		(0.5-3.8)		
2010a						
(WOAES)	Mindon ON	2000	04.4	4.0	4.4	0.4
Health	Windsor, ON	2006	214	1.2	1.1	2.4
Canada 2010a		Summer 24-hr		(0.3-3.6)		
(WOAES)		24-111				
Health	Regina, SK	2007 Winter	94	1.5	1.0	4.0
Canada	rtogina, ort	24-hr		(0.4-8.1)	1.0	1.0
2010b				(31.31.)		
(RIAQS)						
Health	Regina, SK	2007	108	0.7	0.6	1.4
Canada		Summer	-	(0.2-3.1)		
2010b		24-hr		,		
(RIAQS)						
Health	Regina, SK	2007	97	0.8	0.7	1.2
Canada		Summer		(0.4 - 2.2)		
2010b		5-day				
(RIAQS)						

		Sampling		Mean	B4 o di o o	P95
Reference	Location	Period and Duration	n	(Range) (µg/m³)	Median (µg/m³)	(µg/m³)
Health	Halifax, NS	2009 Winter	287	0.9	0.7	2.1
Canada 2011 (HIAQS)		24-hr		(0.2-6.0)		
Health	Halifax, NS	2009	324	0.5	0.4	0.9
Canada 2011 (HIAQS)		Summer 24-hr		(0.1-3.5)		
Weichenthal	Ottawa, ON	2010 High-	39	2.8	2.6	5.7
et al. 2011		traffic 1-hr		(0.5-6.5)		
Weichenthal	Ottawa, ON	2010 Low-	39	0.9	0.8	2.5
et al. 2011		traffic 1-hr		(0.4-2.8)		
Cheng et al. 1997	Edmonton, AB	1991–1994 24-hr	212	4.5	5.0	
SLEA 2013	Sarnia-Lambton,	2008	362	1.5	0.8	5.3
	ON	24-hr		(0-13.9)		
SLEA 2013	Sarnia-Lambton,	2009	360	1.8	0.9	6.2
	ON	24-hr		(0-30.0)		
SLEA 2013	Sarnia-Lambton,	2010	357	1.2	0.6	3.8
	ON	24-hr		(0-18.4)		
SLEA 2013	Sarnia-Lambton,	2011	358	1.4	0.4	5.7
	ON	24-hr		(0-28.8)		
SLEA 2013	Sarnia-Lambton,	2012	357	0.9	0.4	3.8
Allerandada	ON OF the control of	24-hr		(0-11.5)		14/04/50

Abbreviations: P95, 95th percentile; NAPS, National Air Pollution Surveillance; WOAES, Windsor Ontario Exposure Assessment Study; RIAQS, Regina Indoor Air Quality Study; HIAQS, Halifax Indoor Air Quality Study

Table 11-B. Indoor Air

				Mean		
Reference	Location	Sampling Period and Duration	n	(Range)	Median (µg/m³)	P95 (μg/m³)
Health Canada 2010a	Windsor, ON	2005 Winter 24-hr	91	6.0 (0.3-72.4)	3.5	23.9

¹ Data for years 2005 – 2009; Sites provided represent those with the highest 95th percentile concentration for the site type (e.g., Residential), unless otherwise specified.

[&]quot;Highest 95th percentile of all sites

iii Highest median

iv Lowest 95th percentile of all sites

				Mean		
		Sampling Period and		(Range)	Median	P95
Reference	Location	Duration	n	(µ g/m³)	(µg/m³)	(µg/m³)
(WOAES) ^v	\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\	2225	047		0.0	10.0
Health Canada 2010a (WOAES)	Windsor, ON	2005 Summer 24-hr	217	5.8 (0.9- 133.7)	3.2	16.8
Health Canada 2010a (WOAES)	Windsor, ON	2006 Winter 24-hr	224	3.6 (0.8-16.7)	2.7	11.4
Health Canada 2010a (WOAES)	Windsor, ON	2006 Summer 24-hr	205	4.5 (0.6-45.8)	2.5	16.3
Health Canada 2010b (RIAQS) ^{vi}	Regina, SK	2007 Winter 24-hr	83	3.8 (0.8-21.0)	2.8	10.5
Health Canada 2010b (RIAQS)	Regina, SK	2007 Winter 5-day	70	4.1 (1.1 - 20.6)	2.8	10.9
Health Canada 2010b (RIAQS)	Regina, SK	2007 Summer 24-hr	91	2.6 (0.4-12.4)	1.6	7.6
Health Canada 2010b (RIAQS)	Regina, SK	2007 Summer 5-day	88	2.8 (0.6 - 16.5)	2.0	7.2
Health Canada 2011 (HIAQS) ^{vii}	Halifax, NS	2009 Winter 24-hr	312	2.8 (0.4-60.7)	1.7	7.4
Health Canada 2011 (HIAQS)	Halifax, NS	2009 Summer 24-hr	331	1.5 (0.3-80.9)	0.9	3.5
Weichenthal et al. 2011 viii	Ottawa, ON	2010 Summer	39	1.8 (0.7-3.1)	1.6	2.7

Abbreviations: P95, 95th percentile; WOAES, Windsor Ontario Exposure Assessment Study; RIAQS, Regina Indoor Air Quality Study; HIAQS, Halifax Indoor Air Quality Study

Notes:

^v Home (without smokers only)

vi Home

vii Home

viii Office building

Table 11-C. Personal Air

Reference	Location	Sampling Period and Duration	n	Mean (Range) (µg/m³)	Median (μg/m³)	P95 (μg/m³)
Health Canada 2010a (WOAES)	Windsor, ON	2005 Winter 24-hr	119	6.6 (1.1-66.1)	3.8	13.4
Health Canada 2010a (WOAES)	Windsor, ON	2005 Summer 24-hr	207	5.7 (1.3- 120.5)	3.4	16.9

Abbreviations: P95, 95th percentile; WOAES, Windsor Ontario Exposure Assessment Study

Drinking Water

Based on its physical-chemical properties, ethene is not expected to occur in drinking water; hence, no data was found regarding concentrations of ethene in drinking water in Canada or elsewhere.

Food and Beverages

Ethene is not added to foodstuffs or beverages; however it is released naturally from fruits and vegetables. Endogenous production of ethene in plant tissue generally increases rapidly during ripening (IARC 1994). Although plants normally produce 0.6-6 μ g/kg fresh weight per hour, production rates may increase to 120 μ g/kg weight per hour during ripening (Dörffling 1982; Tille et al. 1985). Nonetheless, the potential exposure of ethene from the consumption of fruits and vegetables is expected to be negligible, and therefore has not been characterized here.

Furthermore, due to the substance's high volatility, ethene was exempted from the requirement of a tolerance for residues or an acceptable daily intake (ADI) from its use as a plant growth regulator on agricultural crop in the US and in Canada (US EPA 1992a; PMRA 2001). No dietary exposure of ethene is expected for Canadians from the use of ethene for the postharvest ripening of bananas and other tropical fruits, and for degreening of citrus (Lunau 2010; CGSB 2011).

Soil and Dust

The surface layer in soil comprised of litter emits considerable amounts of ethene, which is produced by plants and soil microorganisms, under aerobic conditions (Sawada and Totsuka 1986). Smith and Restall (1971) measured the production of ethene by soils under anaerobic conditions where levels were found to be more than 20 ppm (17.4 mg/m³) in several soils after 10 days at 20°C. These concentrations exceeded those known to cause severe reductions in the growth of root axes of some plant species. The authors also showed that ethene was produced by enzyme activity and not by chemical action based on comparative experiments between sterilized and unsterilized soil (Smith and Restall 1971). While the surface layer of soil is expected to release ethene into the atmosphere, lower soil levels may actively degrade ethene, but only under aerobic conditions or when ethene levels are high (Sawada and Totsuka 1986).

Ethene is not expected to occur in dust based on its physical-chemical properties; hence no data was found regarding concentrations of ethene dust in Canada or elsewhere.

Consumer Products

Ethene has been identified in the international literature for its use as a welding gas and refrigerant (CGAI 1999). According to Dow (2007), no consumer uses of ethene are known. The survey conducted pursuant to section 71 of CEPA did not identify specific consumer products for ethene (Environment Canada 2003a). As such, exposure to ethene via consumer products is not expected.

Tobacco Smoke

There is strong evidence showing that cigarette smoke is a significant source of exposure to ethene.

In Health Canada's Regina Study, homes with smokers present corresponded to higher levels of ethene than did homes without smokers present (Health Canada 2010b). The median level of ethene in homes with smokers during the winter (6.6 μ g/m³, 5-day samples) was nearly double that found in homes without smokers (2.8 μ g/m³, 5-day samples). The corresponding 95th percentile in homes with smokers present (23.1 μ g/m³) was nearly twofold that found in homes without smokers (10.9 μ g/m³).

Barrefors and Petersson (1993) measured ethene levels in a small café (ca. 150 m³) in Sweden which was occupied by 10 smoking and 10 non-smoking customers, where concentrations were found to be 56 μ g/m³. As a comparison, the authors later placed a burning cigarette in a flask then measured the ethene levels in the empty café, which were found to be 42 μ g/m³. Ethene was a major constituent of smoke in both cases: of all hydrocarbons measured, ethene ranked third highest (8.9 %) when customers were present, and second highest (11 %) when the cigarette was burning. The corresponding levels in a car during urban driving measured in this study were lower (18-30 μ g/m³) than the smoky café; however ethene levels measured in a nearby urban road tunnel (280 μ g/m³) were considerably higher.

The total mass of ethene produced per cigarette has also been investigated in several studies. Löfroth et al. (1989) determined that $1200 \square \mu g$ of ethene were released per cigarette in sidestream smoke (smoke released from the burning cone during the puff). In an experimental study, Baren et al. (2004) measured ethene in mainstream smoke (generated during a puff when the air is drawn through the burning cone) as well as in sidestream smoke where both smoke types were sampled simultaneously, as opposed to separately. The total mass of ethene emitted per cigarette in mainstream smoke from three different cigarette types ranged from 140 to 190 μg , while for sidestream smoke ethene was below the limit of detection of 1600 μg per cigarette for the sidestream smoke method (Baren et al. 2004). Levels of ethene in mainstream and sidestream smoke collected separately were measured previously by Shi et al. (2003). Ethene yields for a single reference cigarette in this case were found to be 140 μg for mainstream smoke, and 700 μg for sidestream smoke (Shi et al. 2003).

Estimate of exposure

Given ethene's physical-chemical properties, air is considered to be the predominant source of exposure for the general public. The 95^{th} percentiles for ambient air concentrations were, on average, lower than indoor air across all studies. From the available monitoring data, concentrations of ethene in indoor air were either higher or similar to personal air. Personal air data is considered to be more representative of air concentrations present in the breathing zone as it samples the air surrounding the individual, rather than in fixed indoor or outdoor locations. The highest 95^{th} percentile concentrations for personal air and indoor air of 16.9 $\mu g/m^3$ and 23.9 $\mu g/m^3$, respectively, identified in the Windsor Study (Health Canada 2010a) are considered to be upper-bounding air concentrations to which the general population of Canada is exposed.

Confidence in Exposure Database

Confidence in the exposure data of ethene in environmental media is considered high. Ambient, indoor, and personal air monitoring data were available, and were recent and representative of Canadian houses. Despite the lack of data for some environmental media, such as drinking water, the physical chemical properties of ethene suggest that there would be minimal amounts present. Confidence in the ethene air concentrations is high given the conservative nature of the assessment.

Health Effects Assessment

A summary of the available health effects information for ethene is presented in Appendix A.

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) concluded that there is inadequate evidence in humans and experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of ethene. Therefore, ethene was evaluated as not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans (Group 3

carcinogen) (IARC 1994). The OECD has also concluded: "Relevant studies on ethene have indicated a low toxicity and no risk to human health..." (OECD 1998). The above classification and conclusions were based principally on test results in experimental animals.

No tumors were observed in experimental animals exposed to ethene in a two-year carcinogenicity study. One hundred and twenty Fisher 344 rats per sex per dose were exposed to 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm ethene via inhalation for up to 24 months. Randomly selected animals were necropsied and examined after 6, 12 and 18 months of exposure. All surviving rats were necropsied at 24 months. There were no statistically significant differences among any of the exposed groups with respect to any of the heamatology, blood chemistry or other parameters investigated. No gross or histopathology tissue changes attributable to the effects of the test material were observed in any of the exposed rats (CIIT 1979). Based on the observations from this study, Hamm et al. concluded that the results (of the study) provided "...no evidence that ethene at these concentrations causes chronic toxicity or is oncogenic in Fisher 344 rats" (Hamm et al. 1984).

Ethene can be metabolized to ethylene oxide *in vivo* in rodents and humans (Ehrenberg et al.1977; Törnqvisk et al. 1988; Törnqvisk et al. 1989; Walker et al. 1990). In contrast to ethene, ethylene oxide, is a potent alkylating agent and a genotoxic carcinogen both in experimental animals and humans (IARC 2008; Ehrenberg et al. 1977). Ethylene oxide has been shown to alkylate (2-hydroxyethylate) RNA, DNA and proteins, and the resulting genetic damage has been thought to play a critical role in the induction of mutations and cancers in rodents (IARC 2008). Identical products of alkylation have also been observed after exposure of rodents to ethene; this was attributed to the conversion of ethene to ethylene oxide (Ehrenberg et al. 1977; Sergerbäck 1983; Eide et al.1995).

Numerous studies on the rate at which ethene are metabolized to ethylene oxide have been conducted in experimental animals and in humans. Results of these studies have shown that when inhaled at low concentrations, 5- 10 % of ethene could be converted to ethylene oxide in exposed mice, rats and hamsters (Sergerbäck 1983; Törnqvisk 1988). The maximum conversion of ethene to ethylene oxide in humans was estimated to be 4 %, while about 1 % has been measured. In addition, it has been found that the level of endogenous ethene in humans is lower than that in rodents because there is a lower endogenous production rate in humans when normalized for body weight (Törnqvisk 1989; Törnqvisk 1994; Filser et al. 1992; Csanády et al., 2000; OECD 1998).

In order to more accurately assess potential for cancer risks from exposure to ethene, Walker et al. investigated potential use of N-(2-hydroxyethyl)-valine (HEV), N7-(2-hydroxyethyl)-guanine (N7-HEG) and hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltranferase (Hprt) mutant frequency as quantitative indicators or biomarkers of *in vivo* conversion of ethene to ethylene oxide in experimental animals. In Walker's study, groups of male F344 rats and male B6C3F1 mice were exposed to 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm ethene, via inhalation, for 4 weeks. HEV, N7-HEG and Hprt mutant frequencies were assessed for determining the dose of ethylene oxide resulting from exogenous ethene exposures; these biomarker values were then compared with the same background biomarker values. The results of the study showed that the dose-response curves for N7-HEG and HEV were superlinear in exposed rats and

mice, indicating that metabolic activation of ethene was saturated at exposures >1000 ppm (Walker et al. 2000). This finding coincided with the results from an earlier study by Bolt and Filser in which a two-compartment pharmacokinetic model was used for the elimination of ethene in Sprague-Dawley rats. The results of Bolt and Filser's study indicated that above a concentration of 1000 ppm, ethene reached a maximal rate of metabolism (Vmax). Therefore, higher exposures to ethene would not yield greater conversion to ethylene oxide. Exposure of rats to concentrations of ethene >1000 ppm correspond to a theoretical exposure to about 6 ppm ethylene oxide (Bolt and Filser 1987).

The saturation of metabolism from ethene to ethylene oxide may explain the phenomenon that ethene failed to demonstrate the induction of mutations or cancers in experimental animals although it can be converted to ethylene oxide in vivo. In a cancer bioassay conducted by Snellings et al., exposure of F344 rats to ethylene oxide significantly increased incidences of mononuclear cell leukemia and brain tumours at > 10 and > 30 ppm exposure levels respectively (Snellings et al. 1984); yet, exposure of F344 rats to 3000 ppm ethene for 2 years failed to induce these tumours (Hamm et al. 1984). In addition, no significant mutagenic response was observed in the Hprt gene of ethene exposed animals, whereas exposure of rats and mice to 200 ppm ethylene oxide, as a positive control, led to a significant increase in Hprt mutant frequencies in splenic T cells. Walker et al., therefore, suggested that too little ethylene oxide can be produced from ethene exposure to cause mutagenic and carcinogenic responses in exposed experimental animals under current standard bioassay conditions (Walker et al. 2000). This finding is consistent with the OECD SIDS assessment: "In the case of ethylene (ethene), a possible mechanism for a toxic potential in humans has been identified, but few signs of toxicity have been observed. This is related to the fact that ethene gives rise only to minute doses of ethylene oxide" (OECD 1998).

Ethene has also been tested for its genotoxicity in *in vivo* and *in vitro* assays. An overview of the available genotoxicity studies is presented in Appendix A; these data are briefly summarized here.

The overall genotoxicity test results for ethene are negative. Ethene did not cause gene mutations in *Salmonella typhimurium* TA100 or in *Escherichia coli* with or without metabolic activation. It did not induce chromosome aberration in Chinese hamster ovary cells. No increase in Hprt frequency in splenic T cells in rats and mice exposed to ethene via inhalation for 4 weeks. In an *in vivo* micronucleus test, ethene did not significantly increase the frequency of micronucleated polychromatic erythrocytes in bone marrow of rats and mice exposed to ethene via inhalation for 4 weeks. However, it showed positive results with DNA alkylation in the exposed mice and rats, which was caused by its metabolite, ethylene oxide (IARC 1994). As reported earlier in this document, no tumours have been observed in the ethene exposed animals in a two year study, although positive results of alkylation have been found. This may be related to the fact that ethene gives rise only to minute doses of ethylene oxide.

Exposure to ethene has shown very limited non-cancer effects in experimental animals. No significant toxicity was observed in the male and female Fisher 344 rats exposed to ethene,

at concentrations of 0 to 3000 ppm, via inhalation, for up to 24 months (CIIT 1979). In a 13week study, male and female Albino rats were exposed to 0 to 10,000 ppm ethene via inhalation. There were no differences between controls and exposed rats with respect to weekly mean weight change, total weight gain, food consumption, haematology, clinical chemistry, gross pathology or histopathology. Compared with the controls, the liver weights in several groups of exposed rats were significantly lower. There was, however, no doseresponse relationship for this organ weight reduction and the cause was unknown (Rhudy et al. 1978; OECD 1998). In other two more recent 13 week studies, adverse effects were, however, observed in the exposed animals. In one 13-week study, male and female F344 rats were exposed to 0 to 10,000 ppm ethene via inhalation, very slight to moderate multifocal hyperplasia/hypertrophy of mucous secretory cells in nasal mucosa, accompanied by very slight to slight multifocal accumulations of eosinophils were observed (USEPA 2007). In another 13-week study, male Wistar and Fisher 344 rats were exposed to 0 or 10,000 ppm ethene via inhalation. Nasal lesions were observed in both strains of treated rats, but reduced severity of effects was seen in Wistar rats compared with the Fisher 344 rats (USEPA 2009a). Nasal lesions in treated rats were also reported in a 4-week study, in which male F344 rats were exposed to 0 or 10,000 ppm ethene via inhalation. Exposure related lesions both in the proximal and distal nasal airways were observed in the treated rats (US EPA 2009b). In another 4-week study, male Fisher 344 rats and male B6C3F1 mice were exposed to 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm ethene via inhalation, formation of haemoglobin and DNA adducts were observed both in rats and mice at 40 ppm and higher concentrations (Walker et al. 2000). DNA alkylation was also observed in a 20-day study in male F344 rats exposed to 0 to 3000 ppm ethene via inhalation (Rusyn et al. 2005). Since no genotoxic or carcinogenic effects have been observed in ethene exposed animals (at much higher exposure concentrations), it would be more appropriate to consider the haemoglobin and DNA adducts as exposure biomarkers rather than toxicological effects.

The potential for reproductive effects on male and female rats and developmental effects on the offspring have been studied. Male and female rats were exposed to 0, 200, 1000 or 5000 ppm ethene via inhalation. Ethene was given to parent animals for 2 weeks prior to mating, during the mating period, until the day prior to necropsy for the males (minimum 28 days), and until day 20 of gestation for the females. Females and offspring were sacrificed on day 4 of postpartum. No effects on body weight gain, fertility or fecundity were observed. Litter size, sex ratio, mean pup weight and pup growth and clinical condition were not adversely affected by the treatment. Necropsy revealed no macroscopic finding and any suggestion of toxicity due to the treatment. No toxic effects on the testis were observed, and there were no deaths attributable to the exposure (OECD 1998).

Several epidemiological studies were identified. One study was conducted in workers at a petrochemical plant in the United States (US). An increased risk of developing brain cancer was found associated with exposure to (unspecified levels of) a number of chemicals including ethene. However, the investigators were unconvinced that the association reflected a causal relationship. In particular, ethene was considered to be unlikely to be associated with the effects because no tumours were found in rats in a two-year inhalation study and no mutagenic effects were observed in Ames tests (Leffingwell 1983). Another study was conducted among workers at a Swedish petrochemical plant using measurements of

haemoglobin adducts formed from ethylene oxide for monitoring of ethene exposure. The study was carried out in two parts, part one in 1989 and part two in 1993. In part one, eight workers exposed to high levels of ethene (4 mg/m³) and three workers exposed to low levels (0.1 -0.3 mg/m³) were compared to nine controls exposed to 0.01 mg/ m³. All exposed workers showed elevated levels of haemoglobin adducts, and the adduct formation was dose-related. The results indicated that about 1 % of the inhaled ethene was metabolized to ethylene oxide. The second part of the study, which was made up of four workers, was designed to more accurately determine the exposure levels. The results of part two confirmed part one, showing that about 1 % of inhaled ethene was metabolized to ethylene oxide and the maximum amount to be converted was estimated to be 4 % (OECD 1998). No increase in cancer incidences was found in 31 workers exposed to ethene (at unspecified levels) in a case-control study of lung cancer among chemical workers at a petrochemical factory in the US (Bond et al.1986).

In summary, ethene did not induce tumours in rats in a two year inhalation study. It did not demonstrate genotoxic effects in *in vivo* or *in vitro* assays. Although ethene can be metabolized to ethylene oxide, pharmacokinetic studies have shown that saturation of metabolism from ethene to ethylene oxide exist both in experimental animals and in humans, and the quantity of ethylene oxide metabolized from ethene was insufficient to produce mutagenic or carcinogenic effects in experimental animals. Studies have further demonstrated that the rate in which ethene is metabolised to ethylene oxide is lower in humans than in experimental animals, thus, the possibility of inducing cancer in humans is even less than in rodents. In addition, no evidence of carcinogenicity has been found in epidemiology studies.

With respect to non-cancer effects, ethene caused slight nasal effects in exposed rats, via inhalation at concentration of 11,500 mg/m³ (10,000 ppm), which is the lowest lowest-observed-adverse-effect concentration (LOAEC) for inhalation exposure. No reproductive and developmental effects were found in exposed male and female rats and in their offspring.

The confidence in the toxicity database for ethene is considered to be moderate to high as a comprehensive dataset including carcinogenicity, genotoxicity, reproductive/developmental toxicity and repeated-dose toxicity, as well as mode of action data were available to identify critical endpoints for risk characterization. However, only limited epidemiological studies targeting ethene were available.

Characterization of Risk to Human Health

Ethene was "not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans (Group 3)" by IARC based upon "inadequate evidence in humans" and "inadequate evidence in experimental animals" for its carcinogenicity (IARC 1994). The OECD has also concluded: "Relevant studies on ethene have indicated a low toxicity ..." (OECD 1998).

Ethene did not induce gene mutations in *in vivo* or *in vitro* assays. It was not carcinogenic in rats in a two-year inhalation study and in addition, limited epidemiology studies also did not show evidence of cancer in the exposed workers. With respect to non-cancer effects, the

lowest LOAEC for inhalation exposure (the principal route of exposure for the general population) was 11,500 mg/m 3 (10,000 ppm) based on slight nasal effects observed in rats in a 13-week inhalation study. Comparisons of this effect level with the highest 95th percentile concentrations for both indoor air and personal air measured for ethene in Canada (23.9 μ g/m 3) or 16.9 μ g/m 3) result in margins of exposure of approximately 481 200 or 680 500.

On the basis of the adequacy of the margins between upper-bounding estimates of exposure to ethene and critical effect levels, it is concluded that ethene does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64 (c) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

Uncertainties

This final screening assessment does not include a full analysis of the mode of induction of effects associated with exposure to ethene, nor does it take into account possible differences between humans and experimental species with respect to effects induced by this substance. However, margins of exposure are considered sufficiently large to adequately account for any variations. The available human data were limited because of small sample sizes, exposure to a mixture of chemicals, lack of details on study protocols and exposure conditions, and because of confounding factors inherent in epidemiology studies.

Uncertainties surrounding exposure to ethene are minor given the high confidence in the ethene database based on the relevant, recent and well conducted Health Canada studies available with outdoor, indoor, and personal air—the most relevant sources of exposure via the environment for ethene.

Conclusion

Based on the information presented in this screening assessment on the concentration of ethene in the environment, there is low risk of harm to organisms or the broader integrity of the environment from this substance. It is concluded that ethene does not meet criteria under paragraphs 64(a) or (b) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have immediate or long-term harmful effects on the environment or its biological diversity or that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

On the basis of the adequacy of the margins between conservative estimates of exposure to ethene and a critical effect level, it is concluded that ethene does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(c) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

It is therefore concluded that ethene does not meet any of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA.

References

[ACML] Alpen Capital ME Limited. 2010. The Gulf Petrochemicals Industry–March 7, 2010. Available from: http://www.alpencapital.com/includes/The-Gulf-Petrochemicals-Industry-Report-7Mar10%20%282%29.pdf

Alberta Environment. 2003. Assessment report on ethylene for developing ambient air quality objectives. Available from: http://www3.gov.ab.ca/env/protenf/standards/index.html

Altshuller AP. 1983. Review: natural volatile organic substances and their effect on air quality in the United States. Atmos Environ 17: 2131-2165.

Altuzar V, Tomas SA, Zelaya-Angel O, Sánchez-Sinencio F, Arriaga JL. 2005. Atmos Environ 39: 5219-5225.

Anlauf K, Bottenheim J, Brice K, Fellin P, Wiebe H, Schiff H, Mackay G, Braman R, Gilbert R. 1985. Measurement of atmospheric aerosols and photochemical products at a rural site in SW Ontario. Atmos. Environ., 19, 1859-1870

[AOPWIN]. 2000. AopWin (v1.91), component of Estimation Programs Interface (EPI) Suite. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics, Washington, D.C.

Archambault D, Li X. 2001. Response of barley, field pea, canola and tree seedlings to ethylene exposure. Alberta Research Council. Alberta's ethylene/crop research project, report III. Cited in Alberta Environment, 2003.

Archambault D, Li X, Foster K, Jack T. 2006. A screening test for the determination of ethylene sensitivity. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, V. 115, pp 509-530.

Atkinson R. 2000. Atmospheric chemistry of VOCs and NOx. Atmos Environ 34: 2063-2101.

Atkinson R, Cox R, Crowley J, Hampson Jr. R, Hynes R, Jenkin M, Kerr J, Rossi M, Troe J. 2006. Summary of Evaluated Kinetic and Photochemical Data for Atmospheric Chemistry. Section II - Organic Reactions. IUPAC Subcommittee on Gas Kinetic Data Evaluation for Atmospheric Chemistry. Web Version, February 2006. Available from: http://www.iupac-kinetic.ch.cam.ac.uk/

Badol C, Locoge N, Léonardis T, Galloo J-C. 2008. Using a source-receptor approach to characterise VOC behaviour in a French urban area influenced by industrial emissions Part I: Study area description, data set acquisition and qualitative data analysis of the data set. Sci Total Environ 389: 441-452.

Baren RE, Panisha ME, Shafer KH, Harward CN, Shi Q, Nelson DD, McManus B, Zahniser MS. 2004. Quad quantum cascade laser spectrometer with dual gas cells for the simultaneous analysis of mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke. Spectrochimica Acta Part A 60: 3437—3447.

Barrefors G, Petersson G. 1993. Assessment of ambient volatile hydrocarbons from tobacco smoke and from vehicle emissions. J. Chromatogr. 643: 71-76.

Barrefors G, Petersson G. 1995. Volatile hydrocarbons from domestic wood burning. Chemosphere 30: 1551-1556.

Baumgarten S. 2008. Canada Petromont closure "a major loss". ICIS News. 13 February 2008. Available from: http://www.icis.com/Articles/2008/02/13/9100564/canada-petromont-closure-a-major-loss.html

[BCFBAF] BioConcentration Factor Program for Windows [Estimation Model]. 2008. Version 4.00. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/oppt/exposure/pubs/episuite.htm

Beyer A, Mackay D, Matthies M, Wania F, Webster E. 2000. Assessing Long-Range Transport Potential of Persistent Organic Pollutants. Environ Sci Technol 34: 699-703.

Bibra 1993. Toxicity Profile on Ethylene. Bibra Information Services Ltd. Available from: http://www.bibra-information.co.uk/profile-162.html

Blankenship S, Kemble J. 1996. Growth, fruiting and ethylene binding of tomato plants in response to chronic ethylene exposure. J Hort Sci 71: 65-69.

Blankenship S, Bailey D, Miller J. 1993. Effects of continuous, low levels of ethylene on growth and flowering of Easter lily. Scientia Horticulturae 53: 311-317.

Boethling R, Howard P, Beauman J, Larosche M. 1995. Factors for intermedia extrapolations in biodegradability assessment. Chemosphere 30: 741–752.

Bolt HM, Filser JH. 1987. Kinetics and disposition in toxicology. Example: carcinogenic risk estimate lbr ethylene. Arch Toxicol 60: 73-76.

Bond GG, Flores GH, Shellenberger RJ, Cartmill JB, Fishbeck WA, Cook RR. 1986. Nested case-control study of lung cancer among chemical workers. Am J Epidemiol. 124: 53-66.

Canada. 1978. Food and Drug Regulations, C.R.C., c. 870. Available from: http://laws.justice.gc.ca/eng/C.R.C.-c.870/index.html

Canada. 2000. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999: Persistence and Bioaccumulation Regulations, P.C. 2000-348, 23 March, 2000, SOR/2000-107, Canada Gazette. Part II, vol. 134, no. 7, p. 607–612. Available from: http://www.gazette.gc.ca/archives/p2/2000/2000-03-29/pdf/g2-13407.pdf

Canada, Dept. of the Environment. 2001. *Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999*: *Notice with respect to certain substances on the Domestic Substances List (DSL)*. Canada Gazette, Part I, Vol. 135, no. 46, p. 4194–4210. Available from: http://www.gazette.gc.ca/archives/p1/2001/2001-11-17/pdf/g1-13546.pdf

Canada 2013a. Final Screening Assessment Petroleum and Refinery Gases [Industry-Restricted].

Canada 2013b. Final Screening Assessment Petroleum and Refinery Gases [Site-Restricted].

Carter W. 2010. Updated maximum incremental reactivity scale and hydrocarbon bin reactivities for regulatory applications. Prepared for California Air Resources Board Contract 07-339. College of Engineering, Center for Environmental Research and Technology, University of California, Riverside, California.

[CASA] Clean Air Strategic Alliance Data Warehouse. 2008. Available from: http://www.casadata.org/

[CEMC] Canadian Environmental Modeling Center. 2003. TaPl3 v. 3.00 model. Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario Available from: http://www.trentu.ca/cemc/models/TP300.html

[CGSB] Canadian General Standards Board. 2011. Organic Production Systems Permitted Substances Lists CAN/CGSB-32.311-2006. Last amended in 2011. Gatineau, Canada. Available from:

http://www.tpsgc-pwgsc.gc.ca/ongc-cgsb/programme-program/normes-standards/internet/bio-org/documents/032-0311-2008-eng.pdf

Chang C-C, Sree U, Lin Y-S, Lo J-G. 2005. An examination of 7:00-9:00 PM ambient air volatile organics in different seasons of Kaohsiung city, southern Taiwan. Atmos Environ 39: 867-884.

[CIIT] Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology. 1979. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, USA. CIIT report, two year chronic inhalation toxicology study with ethylene in F 344 rats.

Cheng L, Fu L, Angle RP, Sandhu HS. 1997. Seasonal variations of volatile organic compounds in Edmonton, Alberta. Atmos Environ 31: 239-246.

Cheung CS, Di Y, Huang Z. 2008. Experimental investigation of regulated and unregulated emissions from a diesel engine fueled with ultralow-sulfur diesel fuel blended with ethanol and dodecanol. Atmos Environ 42: 8843–8851.

[CGAI] Compressed Gas Association, Inc. 1999. Handbook of compressed gases—Ethylene. –4th ed. Springer.

Colbeck I, Harrison R. 1985. The concentrations of specific C2-C6 hydrocarbons in the air of NW England. Atmos. Environ., 19, 1899-190.

Csanády GyA, Denk B, Pütz C, Kreuzer PE, Kessler W, Baur C, Gargas ML, Filser JG. 2000. A physiological toxicokinetic model for exogenous and endogenous ethylene and ethylene oxide in rat, mouse, and human: Formation of 2-hydroxyethyl adducts with hemoglobin and DNA. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 165: 1-26.

[CTUMS] Canadian Tobacco Use Monitoring Survey. 2008. Supplementary tables, CTMUS Annual 2008 [Internet]. [cited 2011 Jan]. Available from: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hc-ps/tobac-tabac/research-recherche/stat/_ctums-esutc_2008/ann-table1-eng.php

Curren KC, Dann TG, Wang DK. 2006. Ambient air 1,3-butadiene concentrations in Canada (1995-2003): seasonal, day of week variations, trends and source influences. Atmos Environ 40: 5905-5912.

Daubert T, Danner R. 1985. From SRC. 2005. Available from: http://esc.syrres.com/scripts/CHFcgi.exe

Davidson C, Lin S, Osborn I, Pandey M, Rasmussen R, Khalil M. 1986 Indoor and outdoor air pollution in the Himalayas. Environ. Sci Technol., 20, 561-567

Decisioneering. 2006. Crystal Ball by Decisioneering Inc., 1515 Arapahoe Ste. Suite 1311, Denver, Co., USA.

Derendorp L, Holzinger R, Wishkerman A, Keppler F, Röckmann T. 2011. Methyl chloride and C2–C5 hydrocarbon emissions from dry leaf litter and their dependence on temperature. Atmos Environ 45: 3112-3119.

Dörffling K. 1982. Das Hormonsystem der Pflanzen [Hormonal System of Plants], Stuttgart, Thieme, pp. 72-90, 115-129, 170-175. (cited in IARC, 1994).

Dow. 2007. The Dow Chemical Company – Product Safety Assessment: Ethylene. Available from:

http://msdssearch.dow.com/PublishedLiteratureDOWCOM/dh_00bf/0901b803800bfd21.pdf?filepath=productsafety/pdfs/noreg/233-00280.pdf&fromPage=GetDoc

Dow Chemicals [email submission]. 2013. Dow Chemical Ambient Ethylene Monitoring Data 2009 to 2012. Unpublished data submitted by Dow Chemical Canada ULC to Environment Canada under the Chemicals Management Plan initiative. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division. January 31, 2013.

Dueck T, Van Dijk C, Grashoff C, Groenworld J, Schapendonk A, Tonneijck A. 2003. Response of potato to discontinuous exposures of atmospheric ethylene: results of a long-term experiment in open-top chambers and crop growth modeling. Atmos Environ. 37: 1645-1654.

[DPD] Drug Product Dabatase Online Query (Health Canada). 2012. Available from: http://webprod3.hc-sc.gc.ca/dpd-bdpp/index-eng.jsp

Eide I, Hagemann R, Zahlsen K, Tareke E, Tömqvist M, Kumar R, Vodicka P, Hemminki K. 1995. Uptake, distribution and formation of haemoglobin and DNA adducts after inhalation of C2-C8 1-alkene (olefins) in the rat. Carcinogenesis 16: 1603-9.

Eisele F, Tanner D. 1991. Ion-assisted tropospheric OH measurements. J. Geophys. Res. 96: 9295-9308 (Cited in Alberta Environment, 2003).

Ehrenberg L, Osterman-Galkar S, Segerbäck D, Svensson K, Calleman CJ. 1977. Evaluation of genetic risks of alkylating agents. iii. Alkylation of haemoglobin after metabolic conversion of ethene to ethene oxide in vivo. Mutation Res 45: 175-84.

Environment Canada. 1996. Ecological Risk Assessments of Priority Substances Under the Canadian Environmental Protection Act. Resource Document. Chemical Evaluation Division, Commercial Chemicals Branch, Environment Canada, Ottawa, Canada.

Environment Canada. 2003a. Data collected pursuant to section 71 (CEPA) and in accordance with the published notice "Notice with Respect to Certain Substances on the Domestic Substances List (DSL), Canada Gazette, Vol. 135 no. 46". Data prepared by: Environment Canada, Health Canada, Existing Substances Program.

Environment Canada. 2003b. Gaseous and Particulate Matter Emissions from In-Use Light Duty Gasoline Motor Vehicles. Environmental Technology Centre Emissions Research and Measurement Division. ERMD Report #99-67 [Revised October 2003].

Environment Canada. 2011. NAPS Annual raw data [Internet]. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Environmental Technology Centre [cited 2011 Jun]. Available from: http://www.etc-cte.ec.gc.ca/NapsAnnualRawData/Default.aspx?ReturnUrl=%2fNapsAnnualRawData%2fMain.aspx (password-protected)

Environment Canada. 2015. National Pollutant Release Inventory [database on the Internet]. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada. [cited 2015 May 20]. Available from: http://www.ec.gc.ca/pdb/querysite/query_e.cfm

Environment Canada and Health Canada. 2001. Priority Substances List Assessment Ethylene Oxide under CEPA. Public Works and Government Services Canada. TD196.E86P74.

Erbach E, Csanády GyA, Filser JG. 2007. Mutual kinetic interactions of ethylene and ethylene oxide in ethylene exposed rats. 48th Spring Meeting Deutsche Gesellschaft für Experimentelle und Klinische Pharmakologie und Toxikologie Mainz, March 13 – 15, 2007. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology 375 (Supl. 1): 74

Fennell TR, Snyder RW, Parkinson C, Murphy J, James RA. 2004. The Effect of Ethylene Exposure on Ethylene Oxide in Blood and on Hepatic Cytochrome P450 in Fischer Rats. Toxicological Sciences 81: 7-13.

Filser JG, Denk B, Törnqvist M, Kessler W, Ehrenberg L. 1992. Pharmacokinetics of ethylene in man; body burden with ethylene oxide and hydroxyethylation of haemoglobin due to endogenous and environmental ethylene. Arch Toxicol. 66: 157-63.

Fiorani F, Bögemann G, Visser E, Lambers H, Voesenek L. 2002. Ethylene emission and responsiveness to applied ethylene among *Poa* species that inherently differ in leaf elongation rates. Plant Physiology 129: 1382-1390.

Franco JF, Pacheco J, Behrentz E, Belalcazar LC. 2010. VOC Concentrations in the ambient air of Bogota City: Source identification and Apportionment. Abstract #989, A&WMA 103rd ACE, Calgary AB, June 24, 2010.

Frostling H, Hoff A, Jacobsson S, Pfäffli P, Vainiotalo S, Zitting A. 1984. Analtyical, occupational and toxicological aspects of the degradation products of polypropylene plastics. Scand J Work Environ Health 1: 163-169.

Goeschl J, Kays S. 1975. Concentration dependencies of some effects of ethylene on etiolated pea, peanut, bean and cotton seedlings. Plant Physiology 55: 670-677.

Google. 2009. Google Earth satellite imagery program. Built Nov. 12, 2009. Accessed April 2010.

Guest, D, CS Barrow, JA Popp et al. 1981. Effects of Aroclor 1254 on disposition and hepatotoxicity of ethylene in the rat. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 57(3): 325-334.

Hamm TE Jr, Guest D, Dent JG. 1984. Chronic toxicity and oncogenicity bioassay of inhaled ethylene in Fisher-344 rats. Fundamental and Appl Toxicol 4: 473-8.

Hanson A, Kende H. 1975. Ethylene-enhanced ion and sucrose efflux in morning glory flower tissue. Plant Physiology 55: 663-669.

Health Canada. 1998. Exposure factors for assessing total daily intake of priority substances by the general population of Canada. Unpublished report. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada, Environmental Health Directorate. Available upon request.

Health Canada. 2010a. Windsor Exposure Assessment Study (2005–2006): Data Summary for Volatile Organic Compound Sampling. Minister of Health, Health Canada, Ontario, Ottawa, pp. 1-75. Available online at www.hc-sc.gc.ca

Health Canada. 2010b. *Regina Indoor Air Quality Study (2007): Data Summary for Volatile Organic Compound Sampling.* Minister of Health, Health Canada, Ontario, Ottawa, pp. 1-48. Available online at www.hc-sc.gc.ca

Health Canada. 2011. Halifax Indoor Air Quality Study (2009): Data Summary for Volatile Organic Compound Sampling. Minister of Health, Health Canada, Ontario, Ottawa, pp.1-48.

Hoff, A, Jacobsson S, Pfäffli P, Zitting A, Frostling H. 1982. Degradation products of plastics. Polyethylene and styrene-containing thermoplastics—analytical, occupational and toxicologic aspects. Scand J Work Environ Health 8 (Suppl 2): 1-60.

Hopkins JR, Jones ID, Lewis AC, McQuaid JB, Seakins PW. 2002. Non-methane hydrocarbons in the Arctic boundary layer. Atmos Environ 36: 3217-3229.

Hov O, Schmidbauer N, Oehme M. 1991. C2-C5 hydrocarbons in rural south Norway. Atmos. Environ., 25A, 1981-1999

Howard P, Boethling R, Jarvis W, Meylan W, Michalenko EM. 1991. Handbook of Environmental Degradation Rates. Lewis Publishers, New York. p. 126-127.

[IARC] International Agency for Research on Cancer. 1994. Some industrial chemicals. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans 60: 45-71.

[IARC] International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2008. Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Volume 97 (2008). 1,3-Butadiene, Ethylene Oxide and Vinyl Halides (Vinyl Fluoride, Viny Chloride and Vinyl Bromide). Lyon, France.

[IUCLID] International Uniform Chemical Information Database. 1995. Data Sheet Ethylene EINICS # 200-815-3 Revised October 23rd, 1995. European Chemicals Bureau.

[IUPAC] International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry. 1993. Guide to IUPAC Nomenclature of Organic Compounds (Recommendations 1993), 1993, Blackwell Scientific publications.

Kanakidou M, Bonsang B, Lambert G. 1989. Light hydrocarbons vertical profiles and fluxes in a French rural area. Atmos. Environ., 23, 921-927.

Kazama H, Dan H, Imaseki H, Wasteneys G. 2004. Transient exposure to ethylene stimulates cell division and alters the fate and polarity of hypocotyl epidermal cells. Plant Physiology 134: 1614-1623.

Konings H, Jackson M. 1979. A relationship between rates of ethylene production by roots an dthe promoting or inhibiting effects of exogenous ethylene and water on root elongation. Z Pflanzenphysiol Bd 92: 385-397.

Lai C-H, Peng Y-P. 2011. Emissions of C₂-C₁₂ hydrocarbons in the Hsuehshan tunnel, Taiwan. J Environ Sci 23: 941-948.

Lee R, Baker H. 1992. Ethylene and ethane production in an estuarine river: formation from the decomposition of polyunsaturated fatty acids. Marine Chemistry 38: 25-36.

Leffingwell SS, Waxweiler R, Alexander V, Ludwig HR, Halperin W. 1983. Case-Control Study of Gliomas of the Brain among Workers Employed by a Texas City, Texas Chemical Plant. Neuroepidemiology 2: 179-195.

Leifer A. 1993. Determination of Rates of Reaction in the Gas-Phase in the Troposphere. Theory and Practice. 5. Rate of Indirect Photoreaction. EPA/744/R-93/001 (NTIS PB93-149334). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, OPPT, Washington, DC.

Lightman P, Kallend A, Marsh A, Jones B, Penkett, S. 1990. Seasonal variation of hydrocarbons in the free troposphere at mid-latitudes. Tellus, 42B, 408-22

[LNHPD] Licensed Natural Health Products Database (Health Canada). 2012. Available from: http://webprod3.hc-sc.gc.ca/lnhpd-bdpsnh/index-eng.jsp

Löfroth G, Burton RM, Forehand L, Hammond SK, Sella RL, Zweldinger RB, Lewtas J. 1989. Characterization of Environmental Tobacco Smoke. Environ Sci Tech 23: 610-614.

Lunau K. 2010. An Inconvenient fruit —The search is on to lengthen the shelf life of the beloved banana. Macleans' Magazine article. (published 2010 February 1).

Mackay D, DiGuardo A, Paterson S, Cowan C. 2003. EQC Model Version 2.02. Available from the Environmental Modeling Center, Trent University, Canada at http://www.trentu.ca/cemc/models/EQC2.html

Matsunaga SN, Chatani S, Morikawa T, Nakatsuka S, Suthawaree J, Tajima Y, Kato S, Kajii Y, Minoura H. 2010. Evaluation of non-methane hydrocarbon (NMHC) emissions based on an ambient air measurement in Tokyo area, Japan. Atmos Environ 44: 4982-4993.

McAuliffe A. 1966. Solubility in water of paraffin, cycloparaffin, olefin, acetylene, cycloolefin, and aromatic hydrocarbons. Journal of Physical Chemistry 70: 1267-1275.

Minitab®, 2005. Minitab® Inc. Statistical Software. 2005. Minitab® release 14.20.

Mowrer J, Lindskog A. 1991. Automatic unattended sampling and analysis of background levels of C2-C5 hydrocarbons. Atmos. Environ., 2SA, 1971-1979

[NHPID] Natural Health Products Ingredients Database (Health Canada). 2012. Available from: http://webprod.hc-sc.gc.ca/nhpid-bdipsn/search-rechercheReq.do

Nose K, Nunome Y, Kondo T, Araki S, Tsuda T. 2005. Identification of gas emanated from human skin: methane, ethylene, and ethane. Analytical Sciences 21: 625-628.

NOVA Chemicals [email submission]. 2013. NOVA Chemicals Ambient Ethylene Monitoring Data 2007 to 2011—130132Rev01.pdf. Unpublished data submitted by NOVA Chemicals Corporation to Environment Canada under the Chemicals Management Plan initiative. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division. January 31, 2013.

[NRCAN] Natural Resources Canada.2008. Canadian Vehicle Survey Update Report – 2008. Accessed January, 2012. Available from: http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/publications/statistics/cvs08/5687

O'Donoghue RT, Gill LW, McKevitt RJ, Broderick B. 2007. Exposure to hydrocarbon concentrations while commuting or exercising in Dublin. Environment International 33: 1-8.

[OECD] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 1998. Ethylene. CAS No. 74-85-1. SIDS initial assessment report for 8th SIAM; 1998 Oct 28–30: UNEP Publications. Available from: http://www.chem.unep.ch/irptc/sids/OECDSIDS/74851.pdf

[OECD] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2005. Ethylene. CAS No. 74-85-1. SIAPXXXXX. Available from: http://www.chem.unep.ch/irptc/sids/OECDSIDS/74851.pdf

Olson DA, Hammond DM, Selia RL, Burke JM, Norris GA. 2009. Spatial gradients and source apportionment of volatile organic compounds near roadways. Atmospheric Environment 43: 5647-5643.

O'Neil M, Smith A, Heckelman P, Obenchain Jr. J, Gallipeau J, D'Arecca M, Budavari S. (eds.). 2001. The Merck Index: An encyclopedia of chemicals, drugs, and biologicals. Thirteenth Ed. Merck & Co., Inc. Whitehouse Station, NJ. p. 674.

[PMRA] Pest Management Regulatory Agency. 2001. Proposed Regulatory Decision Document PRDD2001-04 — Ethylene – Eco Sprout Guard. Available from: http://publications.gc.ca/collections/Collection/H113-9-2001-4E.pdf

Prinn R, Cunnold D, Simmonds P, Alyea F, Boldi R, Crawford A, Fraser P, Gutzler D, Hartley R, Rosen R, Rasmussen R. 1992. Global average concentration and trend for hydroxyl radicals deduced from ALE/GAGE trichloroethane (methyl chlorofrom) data for 1978-1990. Sci. J. 97:2445-2461 (cited in Alberta Environment, 2003).

Prinn R, Weiss R, Miller B, Huang J, Alyea F, Cunnold D, Fraser P, Hartley D, Simmonds P. 1995. Atmospheric trends and lifetime of CH3CCl3 and global OH concentrations. Science 269: 187-192 (cited in Atkinson, 2000).

Rajala A, Peltonen-Sainio M, Onnela M, Jackson M. 2002. Effects of applying stemshortening plant growth regulators to leaves on root elongation by seedlings of wheat, oat and barley: mediation by ethylene. Plant Growth Regulation 38: 51-59.

Rao A, Pandit G. 1988. Concentrations of C2-C5 hydrocarbons in atmospheric air at Deonar, Bombay, in relation to possible sources. Atmos. Environ., 22, 395-401

Reid D, Watson K. 1985. Ethylene as an air pollutant. *In*: Roberts, J. A. & Tucker, G. A. (eds.) *Ethylene and Plant Development*. Butterworths, London pp 277-286.

Reid M, Dodge L, Mor Y, Evans R. 1989. Effects of Ethylene on Rose Opening. Acta Horticulturae. 261: 215-220.

Rhudy R, Lindberg D, Goode L, Sullivan D, and Oralla E. 1978. Ninety-day subacute inhalation study with ethylene in albino rats (Abstract No. 151). Toxicol. appl. Pharmacol., 45, 285

Rusyn I, Asakura S, Li Y, Kosyk O, Koc H, Nakamura J, Upton PB, Swenberg JA. 2005. Effects of ethylene oxide and ethylene inhalation on DNA adducts, apurinic/apyrimidinic sites and expression of base excision DNA repair genes in rat brain, spleen, and liver. DNA Repair 4: 1099-1110.

Satsumabayashi H, Kurita H, Chang, Y, Carmichael G, Ueda H. 1992. Diurnal variation of OH radical and hydrocarbons in a polluted air mass during long-range transport in central Japan. Atmos. Environ., 26A, 2835-2844

Sawada S, Totsuka T. 1986. Natural and anthropogenic sources and fate of atmospheric ethylene. Atmospheric Environment 20: 821-832.

Schenker U, MacLeod M, Scheringer M, Hungerbühler K. 2005. Improving data quality for environmental fate models: A least-squares adjustment procedure for harmonizing physicochemical properties of organic compounds. Environmental Science and Technology 39: 8434-8441.

[SCREEN3] Screening Tool Program for Windows. Version 4.10. 1996. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards Emissions, Monitoring, and Analysis Division Research Triangle Park, North Carolina. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/scram001/dispersion_screening.htm.

Segerbäck D. 1983. Alkylation of DNA and haemoglobin in the mouse following exposure to ethene andethene oxide. Chem Biol Interactions 45: 139-51.

Seinfeld J. 1989. Urban air pollution: state of the science. Science, 243, 745-752

Sexton K, Mongin SJ, Adgate JL, Pratt GC, Ramachandran G, Stock TH, Morandi MT. 2007. Estimating volatile organic compound concentrations in selected microenvironments using time-activity and personal exposure data. J Tox Envionr Health Part A 70: 465-476.

Shi Q, Nelson DD, McManus JB, Zahniser MS, Parrish ME, Baren RE, Shafer KH, Harward CN. 2003. Quantum cascade infrared laser spectroscopy for real-time cigarette smoke analysis. Anal Chem 75: 5180-5190.

SLEA [Sarnia-Lambton Environmental Association]. 2013. Ethene monitoring data 2008-2012.

Smith KA, Restall SWF. 1971. The occurrence of ethylene in anaerobic soil. J Soil Sci 42: 430-443.

Sneader W. 2005. Drug Discovery, A History. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. England.

Snellings WM, Weil CS, Maronpot RR. 1984. A two-year inhalation study of the carcinogenic potencial of ethylene oxide in Fischer 344 rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 75: 105-117.

[SRC] Syracuse Research Corporation. 2005. Chemfate data file in the Environmental Fate Database, 2005. Published at http://esc.syrres.com/scripts/CHFcgi.exe

Statistics Canada. 2005. Canadian Vehicle Survey: Annual 2005 (revised). Catalogue no. 53-223-XIE.

Statistics Canada. 2008. Industrial Chemicals and Synthetic Resins. Sales reports for 2007. Published at http://www.statcan.ca/bsolc/english/bsolc?catno=46-002-XWE

Stocco C, MacNeil M, Wang D, Xu X, Guay M, Brook J, Wheeler AJ. 2008. Predicting personal exposure of Windsor, Ontario residents to volatile organic compounds using indoor measurements and survey data. Atmos Environ 42: 5905-5912.

Tates AD, van Dam FJ, Natarajan AT, van Teylingen CMM, de Zwart FA, Zwinderman AH, van Sitter NJ, Nilson A, Nilson OG, Zahlsen K, Magnusson A-L, and Törnqvist M. 1999. Measurement of *HPRT* mutations in solenic lymphocytes and haemoglobin adducts in erythrocytes of lewis rats exposed to ethylene oxide. Mutat Res 431: 397-415.

Taylor PH, Shanbhag S, Dellinger B. 1994. The high-temperature pyrolysis and oxidation of methanol and ethanol: experimental results and comparison with vehicle emission tests. SAE 941904. (Cited in: Cheung et al. 2008)

Tille KJW, Savelsberg M, Bachmann K. 1985. Airborne measurements of nonmethane hydrocarbons over western Europe; vertical distributions, seasonal cycles of mixing ratios and source strengths. Atmos Environ 19: 1751-1760.

Tosaka S, Fujiwara Y, Murayama T. 1989. The effect of fuel properties on diesel engine exhaust particulate formation. SAE 890421. (Cited in: Cheung et al. 2008)

Törnqvist M, Kautiainen A, Gatz RN, Ehrenberg L. 1988. Haemoglobin adducts in animals exposed to gasoline and diesel exhausts 1. Alkene. J Appl Toxicol 8:159-70.

Törnqvist M, Almberg JG, Bergmark EN, Nilsson S, Osterman-Golkar SM. 1989. Ethylene oxide doses in ethene-exposed fruit store workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 15: 436-438.

Törnqvist M. 1994. Is ambient ethene a cancer risk factor? Environ Health Perspectives 102 (Suppl 4): 157-160.

Tonneijck A, van Dijk C. 2000. Effecten van etheen op planten rond locale bronnen. Een risico-evaluatie. Plant Research International. Nota 42. Wageningen, Netherlands. (In Dutch).

Tonneijck A, Jansen B, Bakker C. 2000. Assessing the effects of atmospheric ethylene on epinasty and tuber yield of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) near polyethylene manufacturing plants. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 60: 57-69.

Tonneijck A, ten Berge W, Jansen B. 2003. Monitoring the effects of atmospheric ethylene near polyethylene manufacturing plants with two sensitive plant species. Environmental Pollution 123: 275-279.

True WR. 2011. Global ethylene producers add record capacity in 2010. Oil & Gas J 109.

Uno L, Wakamatsu S, Wadden R, Konno S, Koshio H. 1985. Evaluation of hydrocarbon reactivity in urban air. Atmos. Environ., 19, 1283-1293

[US EPA] US Environmental Protection Agency. 1992a. Reregistration Eligibility Document (RED)–Ethylene. Office of Prevention, Pesticides And Toxic Substances.

[US EPA] US Environmental Protection Agency. 1992b. Screening procedures for estimating the air quality impact of stationary sources, revised. Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards. EPA-454/R-92-019

US EPA] US Environmental Protection Agency. 2003. Estimation Program Interface (EPI) Suite (EPISuiteTM) Version 3.11, June 10, 2003. Models developed by the U.S. EPA Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics and the Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/opptintr/exposure/docs/episuite.htm.

[US EPA] US Environmental Protection Agency. 2007. TSCA Section 8(e) – Olefins Panel of the American Chemistry Council Letter. Ethylene (or Ethene) CASRN 74-85-1. Ref Code: 8EHQ-07-16929. Dated August 22, 2007.

[US EPA] US Environmental Protection Agency. 2009a. TSCA Section 8(e) – Olefins Panel of the American Chemistry Council Letter. TSCA Section 8(e) Number 8EHQ-0807- 16929A: Supplemental Information for Ethylene (or Ethene) CASRN 74-85-1. Ref Code: 8EHQ-0709-16929C. Dated July 28, 2009.

[US EPA] US Environmental Protection Agency. 2009b. TSCA Section 8(e) – Olefins Panel of the American Chemistry Council Letter. TSCA Section 8(e) Number 8EHQ-0807- 16929A: Supplemental Information for Ethylene (or Ethene) CASRN 74-85-1. Ref Code: 8EHQ-0409-16929B. Dated April 20, 2009.

[US EPA] US Environmental Protection Agency. 2009c. Screening-level Hazard Characterization. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/hpvis/hazchar/74851 Ethylene December2009.pdf

Van Valin E, Luria M. 1988. 03, CO, hydrocarbons and dimethyl sulfide over the western Atlantic Ocean. Atmos. Environ., 22, 2401-2409

Vergnes JS, Pritts IM. 1994. Effects of ethylene on micronucleus formation in the bone marrow of rats and mice following four weeks of inhalation exposure. Mutat Res 324: 87-91.

Victorin K, Stålberg M. 1988. A method for studying the mutagenicity of some gaseous compounds in Salmonella typhimurium. Environ Mol Mutag 11: 65 & 79.

Wallace LA, Pellizzari ED, Hartwell TD. 1985. Personal exposures, indoor-outdoor relationships, and breath levels of toxic air pollutants measured for 335 persons in New Jersey. Atmos Environ 19: 1651-1661.

Walker VE, Fennell TR, Boucheron JA, Fedtke N, Ciroussel F, Swenberg JA. 1990. Macromolecular adducts of ethylene oxide: a literature review and a time-course study on the formation of 7-(2 hydroxyethyl) guanine following exposures of rats by inhalation. *Mutat. Res.*, 233, 151-164

Walker VE, Wu KY, Upton PB, Ranasinghe A, Scheller N, Cho MH, Vergnes JS, Skopek TR, Swenberg JA. 2000. Biomarkers of exposure and effect as indicators of potential carcinogenic risk arising from in vivo metabolism of ethylene to ethylene oxide. Carcinogenesis 21:1661-1669.

Weichenthal S, Kulka R, Dubeau A, Martin C, Wang D, Dales R. 2011. Traffic-related air pollution and acute changes in heart rate variability and respiratory function in urban cyclists. Environmental Health Perspectives 119: 1373-1378.

Woltering E, Harkema H. 1987. Effect of exposure time and temperature on response of carnation cut flowers to ethylene. Acta Horticulturae 216: 255-259.

Zimmermann H, Walzl R. 2009. Ethylene. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. DOI: 10.1002/14356007.a10_045.pub3

Appendix A. Summary of health effects information for ethene

Table A-1. Studies in experimental animals and cells

Endpoints	Lowest effect levels¹/Results
Acute toxicity	Inhalation LC ₅₀ (mice) = 1,093,000 m g/m ³ (950,000 ppm) (OECD 1998).
	Lowest inhalation LOEC (rats) = 344 mg/m ³ (300 ppm) based on inhibition of enzymes (various monooxygenase and cytochrome P450) activity in male Fisher 344 rats exposed to ethylene via nose-only inhalation at 300, 600 and 1000 ppm for up to 6 hours (Fennell et al. 2004).
	Other: LOEC (rats) = 1147 mg/m³ (1000 ppm) based on inhibition of cytochrome P450 2E1activity in the liver of rats exposed to ethylene via whole-body inhalation for 2 hours (Erbach et al. 2007).
	NOAEC (rats) = 10,000ppm based on no increase in serum enzyme activities and no necrotic tissue in Fisher rats exposed to ethene for 5 hours (Guest et al.1981).
	Ethene was in general use as an anaesthetic for many years. The initial symptoms of asphyxiant gas effects are rapid respiration and air hunger, diminished mental alertness, and impaired muscular coordination. Continuing lack of oxygen causes faulty judgement, depression of all sensations, rapid fatigue, emotional instability, nausea, vomiting, prostration, unconsciousness, and finally, convulsion, coma or death (Bibra 1993).
	No oral and dermal studies were identified.

Endpoints	Lowest effect levels ¹ /Results
Short-term toxicity	Lowest inhalation LOAEC(rats) = 11,472 mg/m³ based on exposure related lesions in both proximal and distal nasal airways in male F344 rats exposed to ethene at 0(filtered air) or 10,000 ppm (equivalent to 11,472 mg/m³) via whole body inhalation, 6 hours per day, 5 days per week for 4 weeks (USEPA 2009b).
	Other inhalation studies: LOEC(rats) = 46 mg/m³ based on formation of haemoglobin and DNA adducts observed in male F344 rats exposed to ethylene via whole body inhalation at 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm (equivalent to 0, 46, 1147 or 3442 mg/m³), 6 hours per day, 5 days per week for 4 weeks (Walker et al. 2000).
	LOEC(mice) = 46 mg/m ³ based on formation of haemoglobin and DNA adducts observed in male B6C3F1 mice exposed to ethylene via whole body inhalation at 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm (equivalent to 0, 46, 1147 or 3442 mg/m ³), 6 hours per day, 5 days per week for 4 weeks (Walker et al. 2000).
	LOEC(rats) = 3442 mg/m ³ based on significant (p<0.05) increase in number of 7-HEV adducts observed in male F344 rats exposed to ethene via whole body inhalation at 0(clean air), 40 or 3000ppm (equivalent to 0, 46 or 3442 mg/m ³), 6 hours per day, 5 days per week for up to 20 days (Rusyn et al., 2005)
	No oral and dermal studies were identified.

Lowest effect levels /Results **Endpoints** Inhalation LOAEC (rats) = 11,472 mg/m³ based on nasal lesions Sub-chronic observed in male Wistar and male Fisher 344 rats (10 per group) toxicity exposed to ethene via whole body inhalation at 0 or 10,000 ppm (equivalent to 0 or 11,472 mg/m³), 6 hours per day, 5 days per week, for 13 weeks. Nasal lesions were observed in both strains of treated rats, but reduced severity of effects was seen in Wistar rats compared with the Fisher 344 rats (USEPA 2009a). Other inhalation studies: Albino rats (15 per group per sex) were exposed to ethene, via inhalation, at 0, 300, 1,000, 3,000 or 10,000 ppm (equivalent to 0, 345, 1150, 3450 or 11,500 mg/ m³), 6 hours per day, 5 days per week, for 13 weeks. There were no differences between controls and treated rats with respect to total weights, weight change, food consumption, haematology, clinical chemistry, gross pathology or histopathology. Compared with the controls, the liver weights in several groups of exposed rats were significantly lower. There was, however, no dose response relationship for this weight reduction and the cause was unknown (CIIT 1977 cited in OECD 1998). Fisher 344 rats (10 per group per sex) were exposed to ethene via whole body inhalation at 0, 300, 1,000, 3,000 or 10,000 ppm (equivalent to 0, 345, 1150, 3450 or 11,500 mg/ m³), 6 hours per day, 5 days per week, for 13 weeks. Very slight to moderate multifocal hyperplasia/hypertrophy of mucous secretory cells in nasal mucosa, accompanied by very slight to slight multifocal accumulations of eosinophils were observed and that appears to be treatment related, however, no dose-response relationship data were reported (USEPA 2007). No oral and dermal studies were identified. Chronic Inhalation carcinogenicity in rats: Fisher 344 rats, 120 per group toxicity/ per sex were exposed to ethene via whole-body inhalation, 6 hours per day, and 5 days per week, at 0, 300, 1,000, or 3,000 ppm carcinogenicity (equivalent to 0, 345, 1150 or 3450 mg/m³) for up to 24 months. There were observations of hair loss, dry and dark deposits on and around the nose and eyes and gross eye abnormalities, but there were no obvious differences among the different treatment groups. There was an overall increase in the number of animals exhibiting gross tissue masses for the test groups as compared with the control group, but this trend was not statistically significant. The spontaneous mortality (15.7 %) was roughly equal in all treated groups. The final body weights and total weight changes for treated males were higher than those in the control groups, but no dose-

related pattern was seen. There were no statistically significant

Endpoints	Lowest effect levels ¹ /Results
	differences among any of the treatment groups on any of the haematology, blood chemistry or other parameters investigated. No gross or histopathologic tissue changes attributable to the effects of the test material were observed in any of the treated rats (CIIT 1979, Hamm et al. 1984).
D	No oral and dermal studies were identified.
Reproductive/ developmental toxicity	NOEC = 5,750 mg/m³ (5,000 ppm). Rats (10 per sex per group) were exposed to ethene via head only inhalation, 6 hours per day, at 0 (air only), 200, 1,000 or 5,000 ppm (correspond to 0, 230, 1,150 or 5,750 mg/m³). Ethene was given to parent animals for 2 weeks prior to mating, during the mating period, until the day prior to necropsy for the males (minimum 28 days), and until day 20 of gestation for the females. The females were allowed to litter and rear their offspring to day 4 post-partum when they and their offspring were killed. There were no deaths attributable to the exposure. No effects on body weight gain, fertility or fecundity were observed. Litter size, sex ratio, mean pup weight and pup growth and clinical condition were not adversely affected by the treatment. Necropsy revealed no macroscopic finding, any suggestion of toxicity due to the treatment. No toxic effects on the testis were observed (Aveyard et al. 1996 cited in OECD 1998).
Genotoxicity and related endpoints: in vivo	No oral and dermal studies were identified. Mutagenicity Negative: Male Fisher 344 rats, 7 per group, were exposed to ethene via whole body inhalation at 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm, 6 hour per day, 5 days per week, for 4 weeks. No increases in <i>Hprt</i> frequency in splenic T cells in exposed rats were observed (Walker et al. 2000).
	Negative: Male B6C3F1 mice, 7 per group, were exposed to ethene via whole body inhalation at 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm, 6 hour per day, 5 days per week, for 4 weeks. No increases in <i>Hprt</i> frequency in splenic T cells in exposed rats were observed (Walker et al. 2000).
	Micronucleus Negative: Male Fischer 344 rats (10 per group) were exposed to ethene via inhalation, 6 hours per day, 5 days per week, at 0, 40, 1,000 or 3,000 ppm for 4 weeks. A positive control group was treated with ethylene oxide at 200 ppm under the same exposure conditions. Bone marrow was collected approximately 24 hours after the final exposure. Ethene did not produce statistically significant exposure related increase in the frequency of

Lowest effect levels /Results **Endpoints** micronucleated polychromatic erythrocytes in the bone marrow of rats while ethene oxide exposure resulted in significant increase in the frequencies in rats (Vergnes and Pritts 1994). **Negative:** Male B6C3F1 mice (10 per group) were exposed to ethene via inhalation, 6 hours per day, 5 days per week, at 0, 40, 1,000 or 3,000ppm for 4 weeks. A positive control group was treated with ethylene oxide at 200 ppm under the same exposure conditions. Bone marrow was collected approximately 24 hours after the final exposure. Ethene did not produce statistically significant exposure related increase in the frequency of micronucleated polychromatic erythrocytes in the bone marrow of mice while ethylene oxide exposure resulted in significant increase in the frequencies in mice (Vergnes and Pritts 1994). **DNA** alkylation **Positive:** Male Fisher 344 rats, 7 per group, were exposed to ethene via whole body inhalation at 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm, 6 hour per day, 5 days per week, for 4 weeks. A significant increase (p<0.05) in N7-(2-hydroxyethyl) guanine (N7-HEG) (major DNA adduct of ethylene oxide) was observed in rats in all tissues evaluated (liver, spleen, brain, and lung). The greatest increase in N7-HEG occurred during the first week of exposure and accumulated more slowly and approached a steady state between one and four weeks of exposure with the greatest concentration increase occurring in the liver. (Walker et al. 2000). Positive: Male B6C3F1 mice, 7 per group, were exposed to ethene via whole body inhalation at 0, 40, 1000 or 3000 ppm, 6 hour per day, 5 days per week, for 4 weeks. A significant increase (p<0.05) in N7-(2-hydroxyethyl) quanine (N7-HEG) (major DNA adduct of ethylene oxide) was observed in mice in all tissues evaluated (liver, spleen, brain, and lung). The greatest increase in N7-HEG occurred during the first week of exposure and accumulated more slowly and approached a steady state between one and four weeks of exposure with the greatest concentration increase occurring in the liver. (Walker et al. 2000). Positive: Male F344 rats, 8 per group, were exposed via whole body inhalation to ethene at 40 or 3000 ppm (equivalent to 46 or 3442 mg/m³), or to ethylene oxide at 100 ppm (equivalent to 115 mg/m³), 6 hours per day, 5 days per week, for up to 20 days.

(Rusyn et al. 2005).

Increases in N7-HEG adducts were observed in ethylene exposed rats, but much lower compared to exposure with ethylene oxide

Endpoints	Lowest effect levels ¹ /Results
Genotoxicity and related endpoints: in vitro	Mutagenicity in bacteria Negative in Salmonella typhimurium TA100 with or without metabolic activation (Victorin 1988).
Ville	Negative in <i>Escherichia coli</i> (Landry and Fuerst 1968 cited in OECD 1998).
	Chromosomal aberration Negative in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells with or without metabolic activation (Riley 1996 cited in OECD 1998).

¹ LC₅₀, median lethal concentration; LD₅₀, median lethal dose; LOAEC, lowest-observed-adverse-effect concentration; LOAEL, lowest-observed-adverse-effect level; LOEC, lowest-observed-effect level.

Table B-2: Studies in humans

Endpoints	Results
Epidemiology	A study was carried out among workers at a Swedish petrochemical
studie	plant using measurements of haemoglobin adducts formed from ethylene oxide for monitoring of ethene exposure. The study was carried out in two parts, part one in 1989 and part two in 1993. Eight workers exposed to high levels of ethene (4 mg/m³) and 3 workers exposed to low levels (0.1 -0.3 mg/m³) were compared to nine controls exposed to 0.01 mg/m³. All exposed workers showed elevated levels of haemoglobin adducts and adduct formation were dose-related. The results indicated that about 1 % of the inhaled ethene was metabolized to ethylene oxide. The second part of the study, which included four workers, was designed to more accurately determine the exposure levels, which turned out to have a mean of 4.5 mg/m³. The results confirmed part one, showing that about 1 % of inhaled ethene was metabolized to ethylene oxide and the maximum fraction to be converted was estimated to be 4 % (Tornqvist 1994 cited in OECD 1998). A nested case-control study found no increase in lung cancer incidence in 31 workers exposed to ethene (at unspecified levels) at a US petrochemical factory (Bond et al.1986).